# Remote Detection Optical Magnetometry

Alexander M. Akulshin<sup>a</sup>, Dmitry Budker<sup>b,d,e</sup>, Felipe Pedreros Bustos<sup>f</sup>, Tong Dang<sup>c</sup>, Emmanuel Klinger<sup>d,e,g</sup>, Simon M. Rochester<sup>h</sup>, Arne Wickenbrock<sup>d,e</sup>, Rui Zhang<sup>i</sup>

<sup>a</sup>Optical Sciences Centre, Swinburne University of Technology, Melbourne, 3122, Australia <sup>b</sup>Department of Physics, University of California, Berkeley, CA 94720, USA <sup>c</sup>Department of Electrical and Systems Engineering, University of Pennsylvania, Philadelphia, PA 19104, USA <sup>d</sup>Johannes Gutenberg-Universität, Mainz, 55128, Germany <sup>e</sup>Helmholtz-Institut Mainz – GSI Helmholtzzentrum für Schwerionenforschung, Mainz, 55128, Germany <sup>f</sup>European Southern Observatory, Garching b. München, 85748, Germany <sup>g</sup>Institut FEMTO-ST – UMR 6174 CNRS, SupMicroTech-ENSMM, Université de Franche-Comté, Besançon, 25030, France <sup>h</sup>Rochester Scientific LLC., El Cerrito, CA 94530, USA <sup>i</sup>State Key Laboratory of Advanced Optical Communication Systems and Networks, Department of Electronics, and Center for Quantum Information Technology, Peking University, Beijing, 100871, China

# Abstract

Sensitive magnetometers have been applied in a wide range of research fields, including geophysical exploration, bio-magnetic field detection, ultralow-field nuclear magnetic resonance, etc. Commonly, magnetometers are directly placed at the position where the magnetic field is to be measured. However, in some situations, for example in near space or harsh environments, near nuclear reactors or particle accelerators, it is hard to place a magnetometer directly there. If the magnetic field can be detected remotely, i.e., via stand-off detection, this problem can be solved. As optical magnetometers are based on optical readout, they are naturally promising for stand-off detection. We review various approaches to optical stand-off magnetometry proposed and developed over the years, culminating in recent results on measuring magnetic fields in the mesosphere using laser guide stars, magnetometry with mirrorless-lasing readout, and proposals for satellite-assisted interrogation of atmospheric sodium.

Keywords: Remote detection, magnetometry, optically pumped magnetometers, laser guide stars, mirrorless lasing, mesospheric sodium
PACS: 0000, 1111
2000 MSC: 0000, 1111

Preprint submitted to Physics Reports

October 24, 2024

# Contents

1	Rer	note-detection magnetometry: motivations, applications, chal-
	leng	ges 4
	1.1	Overview and summary of ideas
	1.2	Synthetic gradiometry 5
2	Ear	lier work 6
	2.1	The REMAS project
		2.1.1 Molecular oxygen
		2.1.2 Atomic xenon
		2.1.3 Atomic krypton and neon
	2.2	Conclusions of the REMAS project
	2.3	Magnetometry based on light reflection from sea-water surface 12
3	Rer	notely interrogated optical alkali-vapor magnetometers 14
	3.1	Magnetometer based on polarization rotation
	3.2	Magnetometry based on the effect of coherent population trapping 18
4	Las	er guide star magnetometry based on mesospheric atoms 22
	4.1	The concept
	4.2	The geomagnetic field
	4.3	Geomagnetic models
	4.4	Properties of the sodium layer
	4.5	Sensitivity
	4.6	Experimental realization
	4.7	Summary and future directions
	4.8	Application: geomagnetism
	4.9	Directions for future progress
5	Mir	rorless-lasing magnetometry 38
	5.1	The concept
	5.2	Experimental realization
	5.3	Applications
	5.4	Theory
	5.5	Scaling to the sky

6	Satellite-assisted magnetometry of mesospheric sodium				
	6.1 The concept	48			
	6.2 Possible protocols and sensitivity	49			
7	Air lasing and its application to magnetometry	50			
8	Conclusions and outlook	52			

#### 1. Remote-detection magnetometry: motivations, applications, challenges

#### 1.1. Overview and summary of ideas

Sensitive magnetometers have been applied in a wide range of research fields, including geophysical exploration [1-3], biomagnetic-field detection [4, 5], ultralow-field nuclear magnetic resonance [6, 7], urban science [8, 9] etc. In addition to research, there are numerous applications of magnetometry in industry, security, and defense [5], including monitoring electrical-grid systems, detection and characterization of concealed/buried facilities such as pipes and tunnels, detection of underground movement of personnel and equipment, etc.

Typically, magnetometers are placed directly at the position where the magnetic field is to be measured. However, in some situations, for example, in near-space [10] or some harsh environments [5], it is hard or impossible to place a magnetometer directly there. If the magnetic field can be detected remotely, that is, via stand-off detection, this problem can be solved. As optical magnetometers [11] are based on optical readout, they naturally hold promise for stand-off detection; this approach has been explored in recent years.

For certain applications such as detection of magnetic anomalies of man-made origin (such as that due to submarines) or geophysical nature, remote magnetometry in the atmosphere is attractive for a number of reasons. First, the spatial range of the measurement is only limited by how far a laser beam can reach. In addition, the common problems of "platform noise," the inevitable magnetic-field sources associated with the vehicle or the magnetometer-station infrastructure, are automatically avoided. If the measurement is performed sufficiently high above the surface, the local magnetic noise (e.g., due to power lines, localized thermoelectric currents, etc.) is also reduced.

The concept of stand-off magnetometry started in the 1970s [12], focusing on optical magnetometry based on atoms or molecules already present in the atmosphere, such as xenon [12, 13] and molecular oxygen [12, 14], see Sec. 2.1.

There is also a proposal based on light reflection from the sea-water surface or a submerged object [15], see Sec. 2.3. There are two mechanisms that lead to polarization rotation: the magneto-optical Kerr effect upon reflection and the Faraday rotation in water.

Another approach to remote magnetometry is to deploy a vapor cell and a retroreflector to the region where magnetic field is to be measured. Detection from a standoff distance of up to 10 m was demonstrated using light reflected from a mirror behind an alkali vapor cell [16]. Replacing the mirror with a true retroreflector could enable adjustment-free remote magnetometry, as discussed in Sec. 3. More recently, magnetometry based on mesospheric sodium layer was proposed [10], modeled [17], and experimentally demonstrated [18–20]. In these experiments, the light intensity or polarization [21] are modulated at the Larmor frequency (or its harmonic or subharmonic), leading to a change in the brightness of the sodium fluorescence, see Sec. 4.

A current limitation of sky magnetometry is the small count of detected photons: the solid angle for collecting fluorescence from mesospheric sodium is typically less than  $10^{-10}$ . Another issue is the difficulty of operating in the presence of sunlight, limiting the operation to night-time hours. This limitation can be, at least in principle, overcome with mirrorless lasing (ML) techniques [22] discussed in more detail in Sec. 5 or via detection of optical rotation in the mesospheric sodium layer of laser light launched from the ground with a detector on board a satellite [23], as discussed in Sec. 6.

Finally, modern nonlinear optics techniques allow achieving remote lasing of the principal constituents of the atmosphere, which could also open prospects for remote magnetometry, as discussed in Sec. 7.

A summary of the main approaches to remote magnetometry is presented in Fig. 1.

## 1.2. Synthetic gradiometry

With remote atmospheric magnetometry, we can make measurements at spatial locations of our choice. This can be useful in constructing magnetic-field maps, and in detection of magnetic anomalies. Specifically, one can construct a "synthetic gradiometer" and choose the distance between the sensors to maximally discriminate the sought-for signal from the different backgrounds. This concept is illustrated with a suggestive schematic in Fig. 2. Let us say, we would like to detect a submarine of characteristic dimensions of 100 m using a small aircraft platform with characteristic dimensions of 1 m. Let us say, that this is happening in an area with a typical dimension of geological structures (underwater canyons, mountains, etc.) of 1 km. The anomaly detection needs to be done in the presence of significantly inhomogeneous and possibly noisy backgrounds from both the aircraft and the surrounding large-scale structures. Remote magnetometry allows to measure far away (say, hundreds of meters away from the platform), minimizing its fields that drop as  $(r/R)^3$ . The ability to choose the gradiometric base comparable to the characteristic fall-off distance of the target signal, in turn comparable to the dimensions of the source, is thus a powerful tool for discriminating the target and the spurious signals.

We note that magnetic gradiometry measurements are also useful in applications beyond atmospheric magnetometry, for instance, in conjunction with target search



Figure 1: A summary of the different methods to perform remote magnetic field sensing to be reviewed. (a) Fully remote optical magnetometry: a laser beam illuminates naturally occurring species where the magnetic fields is to be measured. The detection is realized through spontaneous (Sec. 2.1 and 4) or stimulated (Sec. 5 and 7) return. (b) An optical magnetometer (here, MagArrow) is towed to an aircraft to perform magnetic survey. This approach, reviewed in detail in Ref. [24], is enabled by the advent of compact, low power optical magnetometers, see Sec. 3.2. Here, the magnetometer is held away from the drone to reduce the platform noise. Image adapted from [25]. (c) Hybrid approach: the different units to realize the measurements are separated in space. Using a retro-reflector, the launch unit and detection unit can be placed at the same location (Sec. 3). The magnetically sensitive species can be naturally occurring (Sec. 6) or contained, for example, in a vapor cell.

and navigation of underwater vehicles [26, 27].

#### 2. Earlier work

We are not aware of previous dedicated reviews of remote detection optical magnetometry apart from the chapter by S. M. Rochester *et al* in Ref. [28]. The key idea discussed there is that optical magnetometry is ideally suited for remote measurements because the atoms or molecules being interrogated, apart from the magnetic field being measured, only interact with optical fields that can be delivered with laser beams and observed, for example, using telescopes. Since sensitive magnetometry (as any other sensitive spectroscopic technique) typically requires parameter modulation of some sort, intensity-, frequency-, or polarization-modulated light fields are



Figure 2: An application of synthetic gradiometry. Performing differential magnetic measurements over an adjustable baseline allows optimizing the baseline for the expected length scale of the target. This allows suppression of spurious signals from the platform (that have a characteristic scale of the platform size, typically much smaller than the target) and from geomagnetic sources (with spatial scales that are typically much larger than those of the target).

used. Such all-optical magnetometry techniques using modulation light have roots in the pioneering work by Bell and Bloom going back to mid 20th century [29]. In the rest of this Section, we trace the development of the ideas of remote optical magnetometry.

# 2.1. The REMAS project

The original remote magnetic sensing (REMAS) work by William Happer and others, summarized in a comprehensive report [12], was motivated by the need of detecting magnetic anomalies of natural and man-made nature (such as a submarine) in situations where locating the sensor in the vicinity of the anomaly is either impossible or impractical. The key idea was to measure magnetic fields using species already present in the atmosphere. Since magnetic detection is ultimately based on the Zeeman effect, the species need to be paramagnetic, if not in the ground state, then, at least, in an excited state. The general idea of the measurement is as follows. A laser beam is launched from a remote apparatus, for example, on board an aircraft or a surface vehicle, which propagates to the measurement region and excites the probe species, creating transient spin polarization. The spins evolve in the presence of the total magnetic field (including the anomaly). This precession is then detected by observing optical signal at the remote apparatus. An example of the signal is laser-induced fluorescence, affected by the magnetic field via the Hanle effect (see, for example, [30] and references therein).

The choice of the species to consider for remote sensing is influenced by a variety of factors, including the abundance in the atmosphere, the existence of suitable transitions for laser excitation and detection, the magnetic properties of the levels involved, etc. One specific example of a deleterious effect is fast collisional relaxation in the presence of the atmosphere that broadens magnetic resonance and diminishes the effect of the magnetic field one seeks to measure. In the end, the REMAS study found overwhelming difficulties with each of the species considered and came to a conclusion that remote atmospheric magnetometry may only become possible with radical breakthroughs in the technology. We recap the main conclusions of the REMAS study in Sec. 2.2 below.

Let us briefly summarize the species considered in the REMAS project. As a preliminary remark, we remind the reader of some of the units of magnetic field used in the literature (with units of magnetic field and flux density often not distinguished for nonmagnetic media). The Gaussian unit is gauss (G),  $1 \text{ G} = 10^{-4} \text{ T}$ , and a unit commonly used in geophysics is gamma,  $1 \text{ gamma} = 10^{-5} \text{ G} = 1 \text{ nT}$ .

#### 2.1.1. Molecular oxygen

Oxygen, constituting about 20% of atmospheric molecules (being second only to nitrogen, N<sub>2</sub>) and having a (rare for dimers) paramagnetic ground  ${}^{3}\Sigma_{g}^{-}$  state (with the magnetic moment of 2.0  $\mu_{B}$ ,  $\mu_{B}$  being the Bohr magneton) and a convenient optical transition at 762 nm, is a natural candidate for remote sensing. However, even in this case, REMAS reached a pessimistic overall conclusion due to the short (on the order of nanoseconds) decay time of spin polarization and significant line broadening due to collisions exacerbated by relatively small excitation cross-section and emission probability.

More recently, the concept of remote atmospheric magnetometry was revisited from a more modern perspective [14]. As in the original REMAS project, the authors considered the  $b^1 \Sigma_g^+ - X^3 \Sigma_g^-$  magnetic dipole transition band of oxygen near 762 nm. The novel aspects of the work include self-focusing of a laser pulse at the remote location where the magnetic field is to be measured and the use of the "magnetic wakefield" trailing the laser pulse, where the magnetic field polarization depends on the ambient field. The concept of the method is depicted in Fig. 3.



Figure 3: Schematic drawing of the remote atmospheric magnetometry technique proposed in [14]. Light emitted from the laser platform is focused at a desired position, the measurement region. A laser pulse induces an electromagnetic wakefield behind the laser pulse, the polarization of which rotates in the background magnetic field. If an object is perturbing the local magnetic field, a difference in polarization rotation can be detected using a polarimetric gradiometer.

#### 2.1.2. Atomic xenon

The next species studied within REMAS was atomic <sup>129</sup>Xe. Here, the groundstate magnetism is purely nuclear (the magnetic moment is approximately  $-0.78 \,\mu_N$ ,  $\mu_N$  being the nuclear magneton), which ensures that the ground-state spin polarization is less sensitive to atomic collisions (longer relaxation times).

On the other hand, a downside of using xenon is the low natural abundance of <sup>129</sup>Xe, constituting 26.4% of all atmospheric xenon with the atmospheric abundance of 87 ppb for all Xe isotopes. An additional serious problem is the absence of optical transitions from the ground state, even for two-photon excitation.

A schematic of the levels and transitions in Xe considered in REMAS is shown in Fig. 4. One of the 6p, J = 2, electronic states is excited via a two-photon transition driven by UV laser light. Absorption of the UV light in the atmosphere is an important consideration as it can be significant at the relevant wavelengths (see Table 1). Polarized pump laser light optically pumps the <sup>129</sup>Xe nuclei in the cycle of emission and subsequent deexcitation of the upper state, which is predominantly nonradiatively quenched in collisions with the atmospheric gas or decays with emission of infrared (IR) light at wavelengths of around 830 nm, the latter process important for detection. The ground-state nuclear polarization is relatively long-lived. It relaxes, primarily due to collisions with atmospheric oxygen, with a characteristic decay time of  $30 \le [12]$ . In practice, the effective relaxation time can be much faster due to effects such as diffusion and atmospheric wind. Consider, for example, a volume of a typical dimension of 1 cm. There are always winds in the atmosphere with characteristic speed during even the nominally calm time of at least 1 m/s. Thus, effective relaxation occurs on the scale faster that tens of milliseconds.

In order to achieve optical pumping, it is essential for the pump light to predominantly excite one of the two upper hyperfine states.<sup>1</sup> The same is also necessary to accomplish optical probing. The factor that hinders resolving the hyperfine states is pressure broadening that is comparable to the hyperfine intervals. The efficiency of optical pumping was characterized by the parameter

$$\eta = \frac{R_+ - R_-}{R_+ + R_-},\tag{1}$$

where  $R_+$ ,  $R_-$  are rates of excitation of the spin up and spin down ground states, respectively.  $\eta$  depends on hyperfine splitting, pressure broadened width and laser

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>In the case of radiative decay, it would not be necessary to resolve the hyperfine structure to accomplish optical pumping (see, for example, Prob. 3.20 in [31]. However, in this case, collisional redistribution in the excited state leads to the atoms returning to the two ground-state Zeeman sublevels with equal probability, which prevents polarization.



Figure 4: Xe energy levels and transitions considered in the REMAS project. See also Table 1.

linewidth. The values of  $\eta$  estimated for the three possible two-photon transitions are presented in Table 1.

At low laser-light powers, the amount of polarized xenon grows proportionally to the laser-light power. However, this growth is limited at higher light intensities (higher than on the order of  $1 \,\mathrm{GW/cm^2}$ ) due to the competing process of two-photon-resonant three-photon ionization.

Excited State	$\frac{\text{Energy}}{(\text{cm}^{-1})}$	$\lambda({ m nm})$	Absorption length	Hyperfine splitting $v_{\rm hfs}(5/2 - 3/2)$	$\begin{array}{c} \text{Pumping} \\ \text{Efficiency, } \eta \end{array}$
$6p[5/2]_2$	78120	256.0	$455\mathrm{m}$	$3.4\mathrm{GHz}$	0.16
$6p[3/2]_2$	79212	252.5	$423\mathrm{m}$	$2.2\mathrm{GHz}$	0.11
$6p'[3/2]_2$	89162	224.3	$149\mathrm{m}$	$7.2\mathrm{GHz}$	0.31

Table 1: Two-photon pumping of Xe in air. Absorption length of the UV light (defined here as the length over which the light intensity is attenuated by a factor of e) is an important factor that influences the range of a possible measurement. The values shown in the table are extracted from [32], where the horizontal attenuation of UV light is given summing the contributions of absorption (notably by O<sub>2</sub> and O<sub>3</sub>) and of Rayleigh scattering. The hyperfine splitting is between the two states in the upper J = 2 P state with total angular momenta F = 5/2 and 3/2. Pumping efficiency [Eq. (1)] characterizes how well the hyperfine components can be spectrally resolved.

#### 2.1.3. Atomic krypton and neon

Another possible candidate is <sup>83</sup>Kr, with a natural abundance in the atmosphere of about 0.12 ppm (about six time that of <sup>129</sup>Xe), nuclear spin of I = 9/2 and magnetic moment of about -0.97  $\mu_N$ . Note that, since the Larmor frequency goes as magnetic moment over the spin I, the Larmor frequency for <sup>83</sup>Kr is about a factor of seven lower than that of <sup>129</sup>Xe. A disadvantage of krypton compared to xenon is that the longest photon wavelength for two-photon excitation is 217 nm, and the absorption length is on the order of 100 m, dominated by absorption by atmospheric oxygen. While the use of krypton for REMAS was not excluded in the study, no strong endorsement was given to this system either.

Finally, neon was also considered and largely dismissed on the grounds of absorption length in the atmosphere for the excitation photons (133 nm) is only  $2 \cdot 10^{-4} \text{ m}$ , again due to oxygen.

# 2.2. Conclusions of the REMAS project

The main conclusions of the REMAS project [12] can be summarized as follows.

- There is no clear path towards magnetometry based on directional light emission from the molecules or noble gases present in the atmosphere. We note here that alkali atoms present in the upper atmosphere (i.e., the part of the atmosphere above  $\approx 50 \text{ km}$ ) apparently were not considered.
- Magnetometry based on these species that does not rely on directional emission may still be possible. We are not aware of the REMAS schemes having been realized experimentally. However, applications to magnetic geological prospecting, mapping of underground facilities, or monitoring of fields from buried AC power lines did not appear plausible. Due to low expected signal-to-noise ratio, only applications allowing for long (hour-scale) times would be possible. In principle, this could be useful for monitoring change in magnetic fields over these time scales, but the applicability would be limited.
- Technologies necessary for implementing REMAS in its limited form were found to be in various degrees of readiness. The absence of the required high pulse and average power UV lasers appeared to be a bottleneck, while infrared detectors and beam-pointing optics were largely available.

#### 2.3. Magnetometry based on light reflection from sea-water surface

The polarization of the laser light reflected from a remote object can carry information about the local magnetic field. If reflection occurs from sea water, this



Figure 5: Scheme of remote magnetometry using reflection from water surface and underwater objects.

approach may be applied in a wide range of important applications including geological exploration and detection of underwater objects, e.g., submarines, perturbing the local ambient magnetic field, as shown in Fig. 5.

The feasibility of this approach of remote magnetometry and, in particular, remote detection of underwater objects was considered in Ref. [15]. The polarization rotation of light upon reflection is due to the surface magneto-optical Kerr effect. In addition, light reflected from a submerged object might also contribute to the polarization rotation. In this case the polarization rotation is caused by the Faraday effect. For both effects, the polarization rotation is proportional to the local magnetic field, but rotation due to the Faraday effect also depends on the propagation distance.

A model describing both contributions to polarization rotation was developed in Ref. [15], where nonlinear effects in water were neglected. First a simplified configuration was considered in which a linearly polarized monochromatic laser beam propagates parallel to the Earth's magnetic field, which is perpendicular to the surface of the water. A reflective underwater object located at a certain depth h is represented by a perfectly conducting plate parallel to the surface. It was concluded that the polarization rotation due to the surface magneto-optical Kerr effect is small, on the order of  $10^{-12}$  rad. An analytical expression was obtained for the polarizationrotated field when the incident plane wave is at an arbitrary angle and polarization with respect to the water surface. It was found that no choice of polarization or angle of incidence significantly increases the Kerr-effect contribution to polarization rotation. Thus, it would be extremely challenging to use this effect for remote magnetometry. The angle of rotation due to the Faraday effect is greater by a factor of roughly  $h/\lambda \gg 1$ , where  $\lambda$  is the wavelength of the light. In the range of depth of 5 < h < 30 m, with a typical geomagnetic field, the rotation angle can be on the order of  $10^{-3}$  rad. While this is an easily detected polarization-rotation angle, measurements can be complicated by several factors such as the shape and conductivity of the underwater object. It was also noted that ripples of the seawater surface and bubbles might significantly attenuate the reflected light.

For effective detection of reflected light, the applied probe radiation must be sufficiently intense. Propagation of intense light in dispersive nonlinear media such as air or water is an important general problem since powerful continuous wave and intense pulsed laser radiation is widely used for various types of remote sensing and generation of beacons (guide stars).

The influence of laser intensity and phase noise on the spatial and temporal evolution of laser radiation was considered theoretically in Ref. [33]. As frequency noise can affect intensity noise and vice versa, it was shown that the Kerr effect can reduce the intensity noise under certain conditions. The developed model was used to study the transverse and longitudinal intensity instabilities. It was shown that significant spectral modification can occur if the initial intensity-noise level is sufficiently high. The authors considered the spatial and temporal evolution of laser radiation during propagation in the atmosphere at wavelengths of  $0.85 \,\mu\text{m}$ ,  $1 \,\mu\text{m}$  and  $10.6 \,\mu\text{m}$ .

The interaction of intense laser pulses with atmospheric gases is studied in the contexts of generation of broadband terahertz radiation via two-color photoionization currents in nitrogen, and the generation of an electromagnetic wakefield by the induced magnetization currents of oxygen Ref. [34]. A laser pulse propagating in the atmosphere can excite magnetic dipole transitions in molecular oxygen. The resulting transient current creates a co-propagating electromagnetic field behind the laser pulse, i.e. the wakefield, which has a rotated polarization with respect to that of the incident laser pulses, which depends on the background magnetic field.

## 3. Remotely interrogated optical alkali-vapor magnetometers

The "brute-force" remote magnetometry may consist in placing a part of or even complete magnetic sensor where the field needs to be measured. The readout of the sensor may be achieved optically or via radio telecommunication. While not being "remote" in the strict meaning of the term, this approach may, in fact, be practical for certain applications, in particular in view of the rapid development of unmanned aerial (UAV) and undersea (UUV) vehicles, discussed in more details in Ref. [24], as well as techniques for "broadcasting" low-cost sensors on the ground, water surface, or deploying them on air balloons or parachutes. Thus the developments in this direction involve finding ways to reduce the complexity, price, weight, and power consumption of the sensors. We briefly review such developments here.

#### 3.1. Magnetometer based on polarization rotation

In their pioneering work [29], Bell and Bloom realized that, for atoms, the effect of microwave fields used in optically-pumped magnetometers (OPM) could be achieved with modulated light. Although their work received major attention in the atomic physics community, see, for example, the review [35], Earth-field magnetometers continued to rely on radio-frequency excitation. However, with the advent of diode lasers, some two decades later, the technique, often referred to as synchronous optical pumping, became recognized as the go-to method for OPM-based Earth-field magnetometry [28].

Because synchronous pumping relies solely on optical fields, this approach is natural for remote magnetometry. Remote sensing of magnetic fields can be achieved by placing a vapor cell in the region to be interrogated, while pumping and readout are achieved from afar using telescopes to launch the pump and probe beams and a mirror (or retroreflector) to reflect the probe laser beam back toward the source after the interaction with the spins. A sensitive remote magnetometer that can be interrogated over several kilometers of free space is desirable in several applications, including ordnance detection, perimeter monitoring, and geophysical surveys. A magnetometer based on this approach was demonstrated experimentally by Patton et al. [16], which we describe in this section.

The remotely interrogated magnetometer is composed of three units: an electronic unit, a launch/detection unit, and the sensor head unit, placed some 10 m away from the other two, as shown in Fig. 6. Let us briefly detail the working principle of this magnetometer by going over the function of each units. In the electro-optics unit, light emitted by a laser diode is split with a polarizing beam splitter to form a pump and a probe beam. The pump-beam is modulated at twice the Larmor frequency  $\omega_L$ with the help of an electro-optic modulator, which, with a polarizer placed right after, forms intensity modulation. This allows to measure magnetic field whose vector is not orthogonal to the pump axis [36]. The pump and probe beams are directed toward the sensor head after being collimated within the launch/detection unit. The sensor head consists of an antirelaxation coated vapor cell filled only with enriched <sup>87</sup>Rb, heated up to 37.5°C with AC resistive heating. The sensor is placed in the Earth magnetic field, for which the vector is here titled 32° away from the pump



Figure 6: Schematic of the remotely interrogated magnetometer setup. LD – laser diode, PBS – polarizing beam splitter, EOM – electro-optics modulator, M – mirror, P – polarizer, BC – beam collimator.

beam axis. After passing through the cell, the probe beam is reflected with a mirror placed at the back of the sensor head. The probe beam travels through the cell in a double-pass configuration before being picked back up at the launch/detection unit.

The readout of the magnetometer is achieved with balanced polarimetry inside the launch/detection unit. Resonances appear at  $1 \times$  and  $2 \times$  the Larmor frequency when sweeping the modulation frequency of the pump-beam intensity. Indeed, modulating the pump-beam intensity at twice the Larmor frequency creates atomic alignment inside the <sup>87</sup>Rb vapor, producing time-varying optical rotation of the probe-beam polarization [37]. Here, the resonance at the Larmor frequency is due to the magnetic field being titled away from the probe-beam propagation vector [36]. The Larmor frequency can be related to the magnetic field with

$$\omega_L = g_F \mu_B B_e \equiv \gamma B_e, \tag{2}$$

where  $B_e$  is the Earth magnetic field magnitude,  $g_F \approx \pm 2/(2I+1)$  is the Landé factor for  ${}^2S_{1/2}$  hyperfine states (positive for the higher F and negative for the lower),  $\mu_B \approx 1.4 \,\mathrm{MHz/G}$  is the Bohr magneton and  $\gamma = 0.7 \,\mathrm{MHz/G}$  is the gyromagnetic ratio of  ${}^{87}\mathrm{Rb.}^2$  At Earth field, the two resonances at  $\omega_L$  and  $2\omega_L$  split into sets of transitions because of nonlinear Zeeman shift. This can be calculated with the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup>Due to the nuclear Zeeman effect, the two ground hyperfine states of <sup>87</sup>Rb, i.e., <sup>2</sup>S<sub>1/2</sub> F = 1 and <sup>2</sup>S<sub>1/2</sub> F = 2, have gyromagnetic ratios with slightly different magnitudes, which are  $|\gamma_{F=1}| \approx 0.7024 \text{ MHz/G}$  and  $\gamma_{F=2} \approx 0.6996 \text{ MHz/G}$ , respectively.

Breit-Rabi formula [38, 39] which expresses the splitting of the ground-state energy levels with quantum numbers  $|F = I \pm 1/2, m_F\rangle$ 

$$E(F, m_F) = -\frac{A_{\rm hfs}}{4} - g_I \mu_B m_F B \pm \frac{A_{\rm hfs}(I + \frac{1}{2})}{2} \sqrt{1 + \frac{4m_F \chi}{2I + 1} + \chi^2},$$
 (3)

where  $A_{\rm hfs}$  is the hyperfine structure constant, and  $\chi$  is the perturbation parameter given by

$$\chi = \frac{(g_I + g_J)\mu_B B}{A_{\rm hfs}(2I+1)}.$$
(4)

Note that the effect of the Zeeman splitting and heading errors can be mitigated with the use of all-optical spin-locking techniques [40].



Figure 7: Resonance at  $\omega_L$  recorded with the magnetometer as a function of the EOM modulation frequency. The resonance is split into a set of three resonances because of nonlinear Zeeman shift, see the text. Solid lines are fits with a three-Lorentzian magnetic-resonance spectrum predicted by the Breit-Rabi formula. Reprinted from Ref. [16].

The splitting of the  $\omega_L$  resonance as a function of the modulation frequency is shown in Fig. 7. Fitting of the recorded resonances with three Lorentzian functions yield a central peak at 682 504.318 Hz with a fit uncertainty of 0.050 Hz which suggest a field uncertainty of  $3.5 \,\mathrm{pT}$ . Observing the sensor noise around the central peak frequency and converting the frequency to magnetic field noise with Eq. (3) yield a sensitivity of  $5.3 \,\mathrm{pT}/\sqrt{\mathrm{Hz}}$  in the range 1 to 50 Hz. Recently, high-performance (~  $1 \,\mathrm{pT}/\sqrt{\mathrm{Hz}}$  remote detection magnetometry was also realized with microfabricated cells [41, 42].

Replacing the mirror with a true retroreflector could enable adjustment-free remote magnetometry. We also note that, for remote magnetometry, a collinear geometry for the pump and probe is more desirable. In principle, the remotely interrogated magnetometer presented here could be operated in such way, or even with a single beam configuration [43] as the effect of the double-pass configuration is similar to increasing the cell length, and therefore the rotation angle of the probe-beam polarization, by a factor of two [30]. This technique can be extended to distances above hundred meters, however noise from atmospheric seeing increases with the distance and can become a significant issue [44]. Beyond this distance scale, adaptive optics techniques may become necessary to mitigate the effects of atmospheric turbulence and retain magnetometric sensitivity.

To conclude this section, we note that there exists an alternative to using a retro-reflector for the remote measurement of magnetic fields based on polarization rotation. "Selective reflection" at the interface between glass and a resonant vapor has been shown to carry information on ground-state Zeeman coherences [45]. While this elegant approach seems attractive for remote sensing because the reflected beam propagates back to the source, only limited amount of work seems to have been done in this direction [46].

## 3.2. Magnetometry based on the effect of coherent population trapping

The effect of coherent population trapping (CPT) [47] in alkali vapors provides an alternative implementation of an atomic magnetometer. Although the ultimate sensitivity with this approach is typically not as high as that of magnetometers based on direct detection of Larmor precession, as the sensitivity surpassing  $fT/\sqrt{Hz}$ level was reported in a spin-exchange-free (SERF) regime [48] and projected for magnetometry based on nonlinear Faraday effect [49], the CPT-based approach may have advantages in applications where compactness and low power consumption are important.

The CPT method relies on measurements of the frequency of narrow dark resonances. These arise when two ground-state levels are coupled to a common excited state by two coherent optical fields in so-called  $\Lambda$ -type level configuration and their frequency difference matches the ground-state splitting. As a result, the atoms are pumped into a coherent superposition of Zeeman sublevels, typically belonging to different hyperfine components of the ground state. This superposition is known as the coherent dark state since atoms no longer absorb and re-emit resonant light due to destructive interference of two excitation channels. The ultimate width of



Figure 8: (a) Schematic and (b) experimentally observed Zeeman-split CPT resonances in Cs vapors in a longitudinal magnetic flux density of  $21 \,\mu\text{T}$  with  $\sigma^+ - \sigma^+$  excitation produced by two coherent optical fields with frequency offset  $\delta = \nu_1 - \nu_2 - \Delta_{HF}$ , where  $\Delta_{HF}$  is the hyperfine splitting of the  $6S_{1/2}$  ground state. The selection rules allow seven coherent dark resonances. From Ref. [51].

the coherent resonances is determined by the ground-state relaxation rate. Thus, its typical spectral width is orders of magnitude smaller than the natural linewidth of the strong optical transitions used for preparing this superposition.

In the presence of an external magnetic field, a dark resonance splits into several components as was shown in one of the first realizations of CPT in Rb vapors [50]. The number of components and their spectral positions depend on many parameters, among which the most important are the direction and strength of the local magnetic field. As an example, Fig. 8 shows seven  $\Lambda$ -type configurations formed in Cs atoms by circularly polarized resonant radiation  $\nu_1$  and  $\nu_2$  that couple the Zeeman sub-levels of the two ground-state hyperfine levels and give rise to well-resolved coherent resonances of reduced absorption.

Initially, it was assumed that CPT resonances would be immune to power broadening, and therefore, a CPT-based magnetometer could provide improved sensitivity over conventional optically pumped counterparts [52]. Later it was found that other factors, such as frequency noise of applied laser light and the AC Stark effect coupled with laser-light fluctuations limit the sensitivity of CPT magnetometers [53]. Nevertheless, it was shown that for both AC and DC magnetic fields, sensitivity values of the order of  $1 \text{ pT}/\sqrt{\text{Hz}}$  are readily achievable [51].

Attention to CPT-based magnetometry was revived with the advent of a new type of diode lasers. The outstanding properties of vertical cavity surface-emitting lasers (VCSELs) make them ideal sources of coherent radiation for remote sensing [54]. The VCSELs are a type of semiconductor lasers that emit coherent radiation from the top

surface of the chip, in contrast to the conventional edge-emitting diode lasers. The active region, typically sandwiched between two semiconductor Bragg mirrors, has a total thickness of only a few micrometres. This ensures low threshold current, below 1 mA, and reduced power consumption. The VCSELs with an emitting area with typical dimensions of few microns produce high-quality and symmetric beam profiles that simplify coupling of the output radiation to optical fibers. In addition, VCSELs can be efficiently modulated at high radio frequencies generating mutually coherent optical fields, which is important for CPT-based applications. Although the output power of multimode VCSELs can reach tens of watts, the output power of VCSELs generating radiation in the fundamental transverse mode is in the range of 0.5–5 mW, which is quite sufficient for creating CPT in alkali vapours. Other important features of VCSELs are excellent reliability and long lifetime due to substantially lower optical intensities at the output facet, compared with edge-emitting diode lasers. Therefore, they can be operated at higher temperatures, which would normally increase the risk of catastrophic facet failure. The most common emission wavelengths of VCSELs are in the range of  $750 - 980 \,\mathrm{nm}$  that perfectly fits with the strong absorption lines in alkali atoms used for optical magnetometry. These unique lasers, combined with microfabricated alkali vapor cells, have enabled the development of chip-scale atomic clocks based on the CPT effect in Rb and Cs vapors in response to a strong demand from the communications industry for compact and low-power frequency references.

Owing to the common underlying physics of the CPT effect, the technological advances in the development of chip-scale atomic clocks are easily transferred to CPT-based magnetometers. The most significant difference between the two types of devices is that the coherent dark superposition for magnetometers is excited among Zeeman sublevels that are sensitive to magnetic field, while  $m_F = 0$  sublevels are often used for atomic clocks.

The first low-power chip-scale magnetometer based on the CPT resonance in alkali vapors was realized at the USA National Institute of Standards and Technology (NIST) [55]. The schematic of the chip-scale magnetic sensor, energy-level diagram of <sup>87</sup>Rb with the CPT transitions, and the scheme for detecting the magnetic flux density are shown in Fig. 9. The two mutually coherent optical fields required for establishing the CPT were generated by modulating the pump current, which greatly simplifies the optical scheme and drastically reduces the power consumption. The magnetic sensor had a volume of 12 mm<sup>3</sup> and dissipated 195 mW of power. It was possible to detect the magnetic flux density with a sensitivity of 50 pT/ $\sqrt{\text{Hz}}$  at 10 Hz.

Generally, a relatively small fraction of the alkali atoms can be pumped into a dark superposition state. It was suggested to use a so-called "push-pull" pumping method to significantly improve the performance of CPT-based atomic clocks [56].



Figure 9: (a) Schematic of the chip-scale magnetic sensor. 1 - VCSEL, 2 - optics package including neutral-density filters, a microlens, a  $\lambda/4$  waveplate, and a neutral-density filters, 3 - <sup>87</sup>Rb vapor cell with transparent heaters above and below it, and 4 - (a) photodiode assembly. (b) Photograph of the magnetic sensor. (c) Energy-level diagram of <sup>87</sup>Rb indicating the CPT transition scheme. (d) Experimental setup for detecting the magnetic flux density. The dashed arrow indicates that the lock-in amplifier can provide feedback to the local oscillator. From Ref. [55].

This technique makes it possible to transfer almost all atoms into the m = 0/m' = 0 superposition state, because its resonance frequency is insensitive to magnetic fields. This method uses a sequence of pulses of D1-resonant light with left and right circular polarization, which alternate with the Larmor frequency. Later, push-pull pumping was applied to magnetically sensitive resonances [57] as well. The magnetization of spin-oriented alkali atoms prepared by optical pumping with circularly polarized laser light precesses around a static magnetic field. After half the Larmor period, the spin polarization changes sign, and so does the light polarization, further reinforcing spin polarization. This process repeats periodically until a steady-state precessing polarization of constant amplitude is reached (see also Sec. 4.6). An atomic magnetometer based on the push-pull pumping with a room temperature paraffin-coated Cs vapor cell with ultimate shot-noise-limited sensitivity below  $20 \, \text{fT}/\sqrt{\text{Hz}}$  was reported in [57]. An interesting feature of the push-pull approach is that by using magnetically sensitive substates it enables hybrid devices, for instance, an atomic clock combined with a magnetometer.

The following years saw further improvements in miniaturization, power dissipation, and magnetic field sensitivity. The CPT-based magnetometers may be a good choice when power consumption and volume matter. The concept of miniaturization has been extended also to other types of magnetometers. There is an obvious trade-off between the size and power consumption of a magnetometer and its characteristics. The design, fabrication, and performance of miniature devices, as well as the prospects for their possible applications, are discussed in a recent comprehensive review [58].

There is enormous potential for remote sensing of magnetic fields over long distances using disposable battery-powered millimeter-sized devices. As an example, CPT magnetometers are used on board the Jupiter Icy Moons Explorer mission of the European Space Agency [59]. According to the results of careful calibrations conducted in the geomagnetic Conrad Observatory, the magnetometers are able to measure magnetic field strengths down to  $100 \,\mathrm{nT}$  with a systematic error less than  $0.2 \,\mathrm{nT}$  [60].

In conclusion of this section, we note that the physical mechanisms underlying CPT-based magnetometry are similar to those of polarization-modulation-based LGS magnetometry discussed in Sec. 4.6. Remote magnetometry can be achieved with low-power CPT magnetometers described in this section by placing a complete sensor where the field needs to be measured using, for example, UAVs or UUVs. With detection based on fluorescence of alkali atoms, only a part of the sensor, the vapor cell, need to be placed in the measurement region while the launch of the laser beams and detection is carried at user's location. This later approach was demonstrated in a proof-of-principle tabletop system with a sensitivity of  $45 \text{ pT}/\sqrt{\text{Hz}}$  [61].

Other tabletop magnetometry experiments were performed with detection based on fluorescence [62, 63] or absorption [64] of sodium atoms. The results of these studies could be useful for informing on-sky measurements with mesospheric sodium, discussed in the next section.

# 4. Laser guide star magnetometry based on mesospheric atoms

## 4.1. The concept

A laser guide star (LGS) is an artificial source of light created in the upper mesosphere between 85 km and 100 km altitude, conceived as a beacon to guide an adaptive optics (AO) system for compensating atmospheric-induced aberrations in ground-based astronomical observations [65, 66].<sup>3</sup> An LGS is created by resonant optical excitation of neutral sodium atoms in the mesosphere using a laser beam launched from a ground-based telescope. The laser is typically tuned to the D<sub>2</sub> absorption line with a wavelength of 589.1 nm for maximum efficiency. Fluorescence from the LGS is collected with another telescope, often used for astronomical observations, and then fed into the AO system enabling real-time correction of the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup>Although first proposed in the scientific literature by French astronomers Foy and Labeyrie in 1985 [67], laser guide stars were developed by the US Department of Defense under a classified adaptive-optics program since 1981, and their first experimental results were published only by 1991 [68, 69].

incoming light wavefront. The performance of the AO system, i.e. the capability to deliver near diffraction-limited images to a science instrument, improves with a brighter LGS. In order to maximize the photon return flux from LGS, significant research and development has been done for the last 30 years, exploring the physics of light interaction in the mesosphere [70–72] and pushing innovation in laser technology [73, 74]. Furthermore, advanced concepts such as polychromatic laser guide stars for compensation of atmospheric tilt [75], and laser photometric ratio star to be used as precise spectrophotometric calibrator [76, 77] were proposed.

It was found that the brightness of LGS optically pumped with continuous wave lasers, depends on the pointing direction of the laser beam in the sky, mainly as a result of precession of the atomic polarization in the geomagnetic field lines [78]. The redistribution of atomic populations over magnetic sublevels can result in reduced photon-absorption probability, leading to a fainter LGS. Although this effect is detrimental for AO, it can be exploited to measure the surrounding magnetic field as originally proposed by Higbie et al [10] in 2011. The principle of LGS magnetometry relies on the measurement of the precession frequency of atomic polarization, proportional to the strength of the magnetic field, as first demonstrated by Bell and Bloom [29] in 1961 employing Cs and Rb gas cells. In LGS magnetometry, free sodium atoms are optical pumped using a circularly-polarized laser beam pointing at an angle ideally perpendicular to the local magnetic field in the mesosphere, causing polarization of the ground state<sup>4</sup> and precession around the field lines at the Larmor frequency. The rate of optical pumping must be modulated (either in intensity, polarization, or optical frequency) near the Larmor frequency, increasing the degree of atomic polarization, in turn, modifying the fluorescence which is observed with a receiver telescope on the ground. Scanning the modulation frequency results in a resonant signal; a sharp increase if the laser wavelength is set to the  $D_2$  line, or a decrease if set to the  $D_1$  line. The modulation frequency at which the resonant peak (dip) occurs can be identified and measured accurately, from which the strength of the magnetic field is derived following Eq. (2) (Section 3), using the gyromagnetic ratio of the  $|F=2\rangle$  sodium ground state  $\gamma = 699.812$  kHz/G. A schematic of an implementation of this technique is shown in Fig. 10.

# 4.2. The geomagnetic field

The magnetic field of the Earth (the geomagnetic field) originates from different sources having a wide range of spatial scales, varying at different time scales. The ge-

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup>The process of pumping atoms synchronously with Larmor precession is referred to it as synchronous optical pumping or optically driven spin precession.



Figure 10: Concept of laser guide star magnetometry. A modulated laser beam optically pump mesospheric sodium in a region nearly perpendicular to the local magnetic field. Modulating around the Larmor frequency gives rise to a resonant feature in fluorescence which is detected with a ground-based telescope. The strength of the magnetic field is proportional to the measured Larmor frequency. Image taken from [10].

omagnetic field is used as a guide for navigation by imparting a directional preference to the needle of a compass. Studying the geomagnetic field has contributed to the formulation of the plate-tectonics theory [79], the discovery and mapping of underground structures [80], and better understanding of the Earth's space environment [81].

The generally accepted theory of the origin of the geomagnetic field is that it is generated in the fluid outer core of the Earth by a self-exciting-dynamo process. Convective motion of the conducting iron surrounding the inner core rotates due to the Coriolis force, and as a result of the rotating conductive flow, a magnetic field is induced [82, 83]. The core magnetic field extends outside the solid Earth up to the magnetopause at a distance of about 10 times the Earth radius; a boundary where the pressure from solar wind (the constant flow of charged particles streaming off the sun) and the geomagnetic field are balanced. The magnetophere shields our planet from solar and cosmic particle radiation, preventing the erosion of the atmosphere by the solar wind. For these reasons, the geomagnetic field and the magnetosphere play an essential role in the development of life on Earth [84].

The orientation of the geomagnetic field vector at any point is defined by its inclination I and declination D angles, where inclination angle is measured from the horizontal plane to the field vector (positive downwards), and declination angle is measured clockwise from true north to the horizontal component of the field vector (seen from above). The size of the field vector is the total intensity F. Globally, D can take values between  $\pm 180^{\circ}$  and I can take any value between  $\pm 90^{\circ}$ , while F ranges between 20 and 67  $\mu$ T [85].

#### 4.3. Geomagnetic models

One of the two leading models, the International Geomagnetic Reference Field (IGRF) model was introduced by the International Association of Geomagnetism and Aeronomy (IAGA) in 1968 in response to the demand for a standard spherical harmonic representation of the Earth's main field. The model is updated at 5-year intervals, the latest being the 13th generation (IGRF13) [86]. The IGRF incorporates several mathematical models of the Earth's main field and its annual rate of change (secular variation) and it represents only the main (core) field without the influence of external sources. The U.S. National Oceanic and Atmospheric Administration (NOAA) introduced the World Magnetic Model (WMM); it is the standard model for the UK Ministry of Defence and the US Department of Defense. The latest version was released in 2020 [85]. The WMM is a model of the core and large-scale crustal fields only.

In both models, the main magnetic field  $\mathbf{B}_{m}$  is a potential field and therefore can be written in geocentric spherical coordinates (longitude  $\lambda$ , latitude  $\phi$ , and radius r) as the negative spatial gradient of a scalar potential

$$\mathbf{B}_{\mathrm{m}}(\lambda,\phi,r,t) = -\nabla V(\lambda,\phi,r,t) \,. \tag{5}$$

The scalar potential can be expanded in terms of spherical harmonics:

$$\nabla V(\lambda,\phi,r,t) = a \sum_{n=1}^{N} \sum_{m=0}^{n} \left(\frac{a}{r}\right)^{n+1} \left[g_n^m(t)\cos(m\lambda) + h_n^m(t)\sin(m\lambda)\right] \breve{P}_n^m(\sin\phi) , \quad (6)$$

where N = 12 is the degree of expansion of the WMM and IGRF models, a is the geomagnetic Earth's reference radius (6 371 200 m), and  $g_n^m(t)$  and  $h_n^m(t)$  are the time-dependent Gauss coefficients of degree n and order m describing the Earth's main magnetic field.  $\check{P}_n^m(\mu)$  are the Schmidt semi-normalized Legendre functions

associated with the real number  $\mu$ . The WMM2020 and IGRF13 models provide two sets of Gauss coefficients for the calculation of the main field and secular variations, respectively. In order to solve Eq. (5) detailed procedures are described in the documentation of each model.

The accuracy of the estimated total intensity is tied to changes in the fluid flow in the Earth's outter core, leading to unpredictable changes in the geomagnetic field. The models account for long-spatial scales of the internal Earth magnetic field. This means that variations in the geomagnetic field generated from the crust and upper mantle, as well as from ionospheric origin, are under represented in the models. In practice, significant differences between the values predicted by the models and measurements at a given point on Earth may occur. For example, daily variations of the magnetic field lies typically on the range of tens of nanotesla, and they are caused by electric currents flowing on the sunlit side of the ionosphere [87]. Local anomalies on the order of hundreds of nanotesla arising from geologic features, are also not characterized in the model. The accuracy in the total field F provided by WMM2020 model is 145 nT. Because none of these models include local magnetic disturbances, it is important to sample and monitor the geomagnetic field at smallspatial and short-time scales. Continuous measurements of the geomagnetic field by a global network of geomagnetic observatories [88] contributes to regularly update the aforementioned geomagnetic models in periods of five years.

## 4.4. Properties of the sodium layer

The "sodium layer" (in which sodium is still a trace-amount minority species) is composed of a mixture of atomic sodium with other atomic and molecular species between 82 km and 105 km altitude, at the interface of the mesosphere and the thermosphere atmospheric shells. Ablation of meteorites in the thermosphere together with chemical reactions provides a constant source of Na and other metals such as K, Fe, Mg, Ca, and Si. Between 82 km and 105 km, these metals exist as a layer of neutral atoms. Above this layer, metals are ionized, while below 82 km they form oxides, hydroxides, and carbonate compounds. Nevertheless, the two most abundant species are molecular oxygen (O<sub>2</sub>) and nitrogen (N<sub>2</sub>) that surpass by several orders of magnitude the density of sodium and other metals. The properties of these atomic species in the mesosphere were discussed in [65] and more recently in [89], and are summarized in Table 2. The steep increase of oxygen density towards lower altitudes makes the recombination process faster, which defines the sharp boundary of the sodium layer at altitudes of about 82 km. It takes about four years for sodium compounds to finally reach the Earth surface [90].

The sodium layer has been actively studied since the 1970s using lidar (light

detection and ranging) in order to characterize the sodium properties and variability [91, 92], to measure mesospheric temperature and winds [93, 94], and ultimately for studying large-scale atmospheric couplings and gravity waves [95]. Motivated by the implications on adaptive optics, the sodium layer has been characterized at different sites over the globe in order to determine its properties and the time-variability on short and seasonal timescales [96–99]. From a statistical analysis of 35 years of data from lidar observations of the sodium layer in Sao Paulo, Brazil (latitude 23° South), the average centroid of the sodium layer is 92.09 km, with a thickness of 11.37 km and a column density of  $4-5 \times 10^{13}$  atoms/m<sup>2</sup> [89, 100]. In fact, the average global mass of sodium in this layer can be estimated to be on the order of 1 ton. The properties of the sodium layer (abundance and morphology) are, however, highly variable. To date, the highest temporal- and spatial-resolution characterization of the sodium layer was carried out by Pfrommer and Hickson [101] using a sodium lidar with a 6 m liquid mirror receiver telescope at the Large Zenith Telescope (LZT) in British Columbia, Their work showed, for example, sodium centroid vertical variation of Canada.  $\sim 23 \text{ m/s}$  RMS (root-mean-square) on a 1 s timescale, the presence of multiple sodium layers with lifetimes of several hours, sporadic sodium layers (SSL) that can exceed the mean sodium abundance by one order of magnitude, the identification of Kelvin-Helmholtz rolls and coherent short-period gravity waves in the mesosphere, and the classification of seven typical sodium-density profiles. Their studies on the vertical variation of the sodium layer centroid were particularly important to assess its impact on the wavefront error in future extremely large telescopes [102]. A typical sodium density profile obtained with the LZT is shown in Fig. 11.

# 4.5. Sensitivity

The spin-projection noise-limited sensitivity (atomic shot-noise sensitivity)  $\delta B_{\rm snl}$  of a magnetometer based on polarized atoms is determined by [11]

$$\delta B_{\rm snl} \approx \frac{1}{\gamma} \sqrt{\frac{\Gamma_{\rm rel}}{N\tau}},$$
(7)

where  $\Gamma_{\rm rel}$  is the spin-relaxation rate, N is the total number of polarized atoms, and  $\tau$  is the measurement time. Considering a uniform laser beam profile of an area of  $0.2 \,\mathrm{m}^2$  illuminating the sodium layer at a zenith angle<sup>5</sup>  $\zeta = 30^{\circ}$ , and a total Na column density of  $\sigma_{\rm Na} = 4 \times 10^{13} \,\mathrm{atoms/m^2}$  (at zenith), the total number of pumped

 $<sup>^5{\</sup>rm Zenith}$  angle is the angle between the point directly above the observer and the pointing direction.

Species	$\begin{array}{c} \text{Column density} \\ (\text{atoms/m}^2) \end{array}$	Primary E1 transition	Ground state $\rightarrow$ Exited state	Reference
0	$6.5  imes 10^{21}$	$2 \times 226 \mathrm{nm}$	$(2p)^3 P \to (3p)^3 P$	[89, 103, 104]
Η	$2.3\times10^{18}$	$2\times 205\mathrm{nm}$	$(1s)^2 S \to (3s)^2 S$	[89, 104]
Ν	$1 \times 10^{18}$	$2\times211\mathrm{nm}$	$(2p)^3 S_0 \to (3p)^4 D_0$	[89, 105]
Fe	$10.2\times10^{13}$	$372\mathrm{nm}$	$a^5D_4 \rightarrow z^5F_5$	[89,106,107]
Na	$4.0 \times 10^{13}$	$589\mathrm{nm}$	$3S_{1/2} \to 3P_{3/2}$	[89, 90]
Mg	$1.0 \times 10^{13}$	$285\mathrm{nm}$	$3^1S_0 \rightarrow 3^1P_1$	[89,108,109]
Ca	$3.4 \times 10^{11}$	$423\mathrm{nm}$	$4^1S_0 \rightarrow 4^1P_1$	[90,109,110]
Κ	$4.5 \times 10^7$	$770\mathrm{nm}$	$4S_{1/2} \to 4P_{1/2}$	[89,90,106]
Li	$\sim 10^{6}$	$671\mathrm{nm}$	$2S_{1/2} \rightarrow 2P_{1/2}$	[111, 112]

Table 2: Parameters of the most abundant atomic species in the upper atmosphere between 82 km and 105 km altitude. Rubidium and cesium are not observed in the Earth atmosphere. Sodium is chosen as the species for most laser guide stars and mesospheric magnetometry because of its relatively high abundance, strong optical transitions at a wavelength with high atmospheric transmission, accessible to high-power lasers.

atoms in the mesosphere is  $N = 9.1 \times 10^{12}$  atoms. Assuming  $\Gamma_{\rm rel} = 450 \ \mu s$  and 1 s integration time, the spin-projection noise is  $\delta B_{\rm snl} = 2.2 \ {\rm fT}/\sqrt{{\rm Hz}}$ .

However, the total number of photons that can be detected scales with the solid angle  $\Omega_{\text{tel}}$  subtended by a receiver telescope with collecting area  $A_{\text{tel}}$  at a distance L from the sodium layer, such as

$$\Omega_{\rm tel} = \frac{A_{\rm tel}}{L^2}\,,\tag{8}$$

with  $L = (H_{\text{Na}} - H_{\text{tel}})/\cos(\zeta)$ , where  $H_{\text{Na}}$  is the vertical height of the Na centroid and  $H_{\text{tel}}$  is the vertical height of the telescope location. For example, for  $H_{\text{Na}} =$ 92 km,  $H_{\text{tel}} = 2.4$  km (typical elevation of astronomical sites) and  $\zeta = 30^{\circ}$ , we have L = 103.4 km.

The fraction of photons collected by the receiver telescope compared to the total number of photons radiated in all directions can be approximated as

$$\xi = \frac{\Omega_{\text{tel}}}{\Omega_{\text{iso}}} = \frac{A_{\text{tel}}}{\frac{3}{2}4\pi L^2}.$$
(9)

The factor 3/2 in the denominator accounts for the radiation pattern of atoms pumped with circularly polarized light with respect to perfect isotropic radiation. With L = 103.4 km and for a telescope of collecting area  $A_{\text{tel}} = 0.1$  m<sup>2</sup> the fraction  $\xi = 5.0 \times 10^{-13}$ . With this setup the fundamental atomic shot-noise sensitivity limit



Figure 11: Reference vertical sodium density profile obtained with the Large Zenith Telescope LIDAR facility in Vancouver, (BC, Canada), normalized with a sodium column abundance of  $C_{\text{Na}} = 5.0 \times 10^{13} \text{ atoms/m}^2$ . Data courtesy of J. Hellemeier and P. Hickson, University of British Columbia.

for mesospheric magnetometry experiments is then given by Eq. (7) using  $N \to N\xi$ , which leads to  $\delta B_{\rm snl} = 3.2 \text{ nT}/\sqrt{\text{Hz}}$ .

# 4.6. Experimental realization

Successful demonstrations of mesospheric magnetometry were reported in Refs. [18–21] (see Table 3) and the developments are ongoing with the goal of investigating spatial variations of the magnetic field in the mesosphere, exploring new formats of magnetometry to extend the sky coverage, and, apart from magnetometry, to evaluating the benefits of optical pumping at the Larmor frequency to boost the brightness of LGS. So far, a boost of up to 20% in the LGS return when using modulated light was demonstrated, in agreement with theoretical simulations [17].

The first demonstration took place at the Steward Observatory (Tucson, Arizona) using the 1.55 m Kuiper Telescope as a receiver [18]. A laser based on sum-frequency-generation technology delivered a 3.8 W single-mode continuous wave beam at 589 nm on-sky [115]. The laser beam was circularly polarized and amplitude modulation was the chosen approach to synchronously pump mesospheric sodium. Due to the relatively high repetition rate of modulation ( $\approx 300 \text{ kHz}$ ) and the requirement of scanning around the Larmor frequency to characterize the magnetic resonance, using an off-the-shelf acousto-optic modulator offered a simpler solution compared to intracavity laser-pulsing techniques. The choice of the duty cycle of modulation is



Figure 12: Example of vertical atmospheric profiles between 83 km and 105 km altitude above sea level for La Palma, Canary Islands (Lat.  $+28.75^{\circ}$  Lon.  $-17.90^{\circ}$ ) of (a) number density of N<sub>2</sub>, O<sub>2</sub> and O, (b) temperature, (c) total pressure, and (d) horizontal winds. (a – c) Obtained from the NRLMSISE-00 model [113], and (d) obtained from the HWM2014 model [114].

a trade-off between the resonance contrast (better at small duty cycle) and signal strength from the mesosphere (higher with large duty cycle). Using the LGS-Bloch extension of the AtomicDensityMatrix modelling software [116], a compromise was found near 35%. Despite the relatively large receiver telescope, the expected level of the signal is fairly low ( $\approx 300 \text{ counts/ms}$ ) for which an amplified photon-counting detector was used. The principle of the measurement is that the modulation rate is scanned around the expected Larmor frequency, taking as a reference the groundbased data from a nearby geomagnetic observatory, and the signal from the laser guide star is recorded on the receiver side. One important feature of this experiment was the dithering method used to suppress scintillation noise due to the effect of atmospheric turbulence in the line-of-sight propagation path<sup>6</sup>. In this method, the repetition rate between two modulation values was dithered by  $\pm 15 \text{ kHz}$  at a rate of 314.159 Hz. The dither excursion of  $\pm 15 \text{ kHz}$  must be larger than the expected resonance width to obtain maximum contrast in the detected data. The dither rate must be above the cut-off frequency of atmospheric scintillation, which depends on the telescope receiver aperture, wavelength, size of the LGS, and the turbulence conditions [117–119]. The cut-off frequency is typically a few hundred hertz.

The resonance is encoded in the dither-modulated signal and must be detected using lock-in detection. The Larmor frequency was found at 318.0 kHz, corresponding to a magnetic field of 45441 nT. The nearby United States Geological Survey (USGS) Tucson Magnetic Observatory reported a magnetic field of 47404 nT at the time of the measurements. The difference of 4% is consistent with a radial cubic scaling law of a dipole with an origin at the center of the Earth. The sensitivity of the magnetometer was estimated after spectral analysis of a detection signal obtained with the repetition rate fixed at the point of steepest slope of the magnetic resonance, leading to an average of  $162 \,\mathrm{nT}/\sqrt{\mathrm{Hz}}$ .

The second demonstration of remote magnetometry took place at the Observatorio del Roque de los Muchachos (ORM) in La Palma (Canary Island, Spain) [19]. A continuous-wave laser based on a fiber Raman amplifier and second harmonic generation was used to deliver up to 20 W of power onto the sky through a 30 cm diameter projector [120]. The continuous beam was intensity modulated with an acousto-optic modulator and dithered at 150 Hz, following the same pumping scheme and strategy as Kane et al [18]. The receiver consisted of an off-the-shelf telescope of 35 cm diameter and a photomultiplier tube delivering photon-count signal into three detection channels. Fifty-one frequency scans were successfully performed and the average Larmor frequency among these scans was found to be 260.4(1) kHz, corresponding to the field of 37200(10) nT, less than 0.5% away from the WMM2015 prediction. By numerical fitting the magnetic resonances, it was found that two superimposed Lorentzians of different widths provided the best description of the resonances, see Fig. 13. The noise analysis concluded that on the steepest slope of the narrower resonance, a sensitivity of  $28 \,\mathrm{nT}/\sqrt{\mathrm{Hz}}$  could be achieved in the best case, in contrast to a sensitivity of  $124 \,\mathrm{nT}/\sqrt{\mathrm{Hz}}$  on the steepest slope of the broader resonance, similar to the sensitivity found in the previous experiment. Numerical simulations suggested that the origin of the double-resonance feature can be attributed to atomic collisions in the mesosphere, the broader resonance arising due to atoms leaving and reentering the Doppler distribution (velocity-changing collisions) and the width of the narrower

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup>Scintillation is what sky watchers witness as "star twinkling."





Figure 13: Magneto-optical resonance recorded in an on-sky laser guide star magnetometry experiment obtained by sweeping the frequency of the intensity-modulated laser beam (modulation duty cycle 20%). The Larmor frequency lies in the center between the opposite-sign peaks, which are separated by twice the dither excursion ( $\delta f \approx 31 \text{ kHz}$ ). The estimated laser irradiance in the mesosphere was  $I_{\text{avg}}^{\text{meso}} = 17 \text{ W m}^{-2}$ . A double Lorentzian fit shows a broad and a narrow width of  $\approx 30 \text{ kHz}$  and and  $\approx 2 \text{ kHz}$ , respectively, consistent with two relaxation mechanisms due to velocity-changing collisions (fast) and spin-exchange collisions (slow) of sodium with N<sub>2</sub> and O<sub>2</sub> molecules. The residuals of the fits shown below obey a normal distribution according to the Gaussian fit of the residuals (histogram). Adapted from Ref. [19].

Another demonstration carried out by the same group using the same infrastructure explored polarization modulation of the cw beam as a modulation technique [21]. In this scheme, the switching between left-handed and right-handed circular polarization at a rate close to the Larmor frequency allows to pump synchronously with the precession of atomic polarization during one cycle. In this scheme, one benefits from a stronger signal as the intensity of the beam is not modulated. To modulate the beam polarization, an electro-optic modulator was used. The fact that it had no resonant cavity permitted to scan a broad range of frequencies, only limited by the ability of the driving electronics to supply the required high frequency highvoltage signal to reach full modulation. The scope of the experiment was limited to detection of magnetic resonance and determination of the Larmor frequency from the modulation-frequency scans. A median Larmor frequency of 260.0(3) kHz was obtained corresponding to the field of 37152(42) nT, consistent with what was found during the previous campaign in La Palma.

A fourth demonstration was carried out at the Lijiang Observatory (China), using a 18 W continuous wave Raman-fiber-amplified frequency-doubled laser, employing the intensity-modulation approach of Ref. [20]. The 1.8 m receiver telescope was equipped with a narrow-band sodium filter, a CCD camera and a photon counter. The novelty in this experiment was the introduction of gated photon-counting detection implemented with a field-programmable gate array (FPGA) as a way to detect the signal from selected portions in the sodium layer and therefore as a mechanism to achieve altitude-resolved magnetic field measurements. The FPGA was used to control the intensity modulator and to acquire the signal during the counting-gate. The duration of the frequency sweep was only 250 ms. The short scan helped removing low-frequency noise contributions such as wind turbulence, fluctuations of the laser power, and beam pointing. The signal during this short scan was too small to distinguish the resonance, so an accumulation of multiple scans was required. A Larmor frequency of 322.95 kHz, corresponding to a mesospheric magnetic field of 46148 nT was found. The sensitivity was found to be  $849 \,\mathrm{nT}/\sqrt{\mathrm{Hz}}$ , limited by the small returned intensity and scintillation as the dominant source of noise. In a future version of the experiment, authors plan to introduce the lock-in detection technique, as used elsewhere.

The Mesospheric Optical Magnetometry project in Norway aims at investigating the so-called field-aligned (Birkeland) electric currents in the atmosphere using LGS magnetometry as a tool to sense local disturbances of the magnetic field in the auroral region. (Scientific motivations of this experiment are discussed in Sec. 4.8.) It is planned to adapt the existing lidar facility at the Arctic Lidar Observatory for Middle Atmosphere Research (ALOMAR) observatory in northern Norway, which is regularly used to measure temperature and wind profiles in the sodium layer. One of the challenges of this experiment is the reduced sensitivity arising from the small angle between the laser beam and the magnetic field when pointing at zenith. As discussed in Sec. 6, see Fig. 19(b), a possible solution can be using alignmentrather than orientation-based magnetometry. Alternatively, the capability of the lidar facility to steer the beam up to 30° zenith angle would allow pointing the beam in a more favorable direction to obtain better sensitivity [121]. The large area of the 1.8 m diameter receiver telescope will be essential for maximizing the photon collection efficiency.

#### 4.7. Summary and future directions

Lock-in detection was one of the key elements for the success of the experiments. Otherwise, direct measurements should be fast enough to minimize intensity fluctuations due to scintillation and sodium-density fluctuations, at the cost of a low signal strength. As the time of flight of the pulses changes with the distance to the mesosphere for different elevation angles, the phase of the lock-in detection must be appropriately adjusted.

While the agreement between the observed and simulated resonances (see, for example, Fig. 13) is generally satisfactory, it is not perfect. It could be improved with additional sensors to monitor the atmospheric turbulence, which determines the statistical intensity distribution of the laser beam in the mesosphere, and a sodium lidar, which allows to track changes in the vertical sodium distribution, would provide realistic input values to the physics models. As it is, since the relevant quantities like the Na density can vary during a night by a factor of 2-10, some discrepancies between observations and models are expected.

A high throughput receiver is essential to maximize the strength of the return signal. A telescope with a large collecting area is desirable, provided that the reflectivities of all surfaces are optimal. In practice, a smaller telescope could provide comparable efficiency, due to the minimal number of optical surfaces and the ease of maintaining high reflectivity of all components. Regarding laser technology, a boost in return flux could be obtained with higher-power lasers and the introduction of chirping technology [122, 123]. The basic idea here is that the use of high laser power desired for high photon return leads to the depletion of the resonant velocity group of atoms. Since the absorbed laser photons always impart a recoil in the direction of the laser beams, the atoms accumulate in a velocity group adjacent to the resonant one with the velocity directed away from the laser. If the laser frequency is chirped, this can lead to a noticeable improvement of the return and, correspondingly, the statistical sensitivity of remote magnetometry.

#### 4.8. Application: geomagnetism

Geomagnetic field is extensively monitored with a global network of magnetic observatories on the Earth surface [88] and with magnetometers on board satellites [124, 125]. In the past, vertical profiles were measured using rockets [126–132]. Less frequently, aerial surveys are performed using magnetometers suspended from a helicopter or a plane flying a few kilometers above the surface, and typically cover a specific area of interest (group of islands, region, etc.) [133, 134]. A review on the magnetometer technologies in aerospace applications can be found in Ref. [135]. Scarce information exists between near-Earth ( $\approx 2$  km) and space magnetic observations ( $\approx 300$  km), and this lack of information translates into altitude inaccuracy of geomagnetic models and reduced knowledge of geologic and tectonic features at these spatial scales.

The geomagnetic field is a continuum which connects different parts of Earth to

	Site					
Parameters	Steward Observ.	$ORM^1$	$ORM^1$	Lijiang Observ.	ALOMAR <sup>2</sup>	
	Arizona, USA	La Palma, Spain	La Palma, Spain	China	Observ., Norway	
Peak laser power	$3.8\mathrm{W}$	$15\mathrm{W}$	$12.5\mathrm{W}$	18 W	10 W	
Modulat. format	Pulsed, intensity	Pulsed, intensity	cw, polarization	Pulsed, intensity	Pulsed, intensity	
Polarization	$\sigma^{-}$	$\sigma^{-}$	$\sigma^+ \leftrightarrow \sigma^-$	$\sigma^{-}$	-	
Receiver diameter	$1.55\mathrm{m}$	$0.35\mathrm{m}$	$0.35\mathrm{m}$	1.8 m	1.8 m	
Larmor frequency	$318.0\mathrm{kHz}$	$260.4(1)\mathrm{kHz}$	$260.0(3)\mathrm{kHz}$	$322.6\mathrm{kHz}$	$350\mathrm{kHz^3}$	
Sensitivity	$162\mathrm{nT}/\sqrt{\mathrm{Hz}}$	$28\mathrm{nT}/\sqrt{\mathrm{Hz}}$	not stated	$849\mathrm{nT}/\sqrt{\mathrm{Hz}}$	-	
<i>B</i> -field angle	60 °	66°to 90°	80 °	58 °	138–168 °	
Elevation	60 °	51° to 75°	64°	90 °	60 °	
Comments	Ref. [18]	Ref. [19]	Ref. [21]	Ref. [20]	Ref. [121]	
					Planned expt.	

Table 3: Summary of mesospheric magnetometry experiments.

<sup>1</sup> Observatorio del Roque de los Muchachos.

<sup>2</sup> Arctic Lidar Observatory for Middle Atmosphere Research.

<sup>3</sup> Expected Larmor frequency based on ground magnetic field data.

each other and to nearby space. Also, the geomagnetic field has a broad spectrum of spatial scales, each of which is linked to different sources and processes [136, 137]. The geomagnetic field is time-varying from slow geological time scales to fast events connected to space weather and its influence in the ionosphere and magnetosphere. Therefore, continuously monitoring the geomagnetic field in time and space is crucial for understanding the complex interplay among the processes that generate and modify the geomagnetic field, as well as for practical applications like mineral and archaeological prospecting [138].

It is particularly important to understand the geophysical processes occurring in the lithosphere, which is the outermost solid layer of Earth comprising the crust and the upper mantle. Processes such as volcanic activity, motion of tectonic plates (leading to earthquakes), soil formation, and oceanic crust subduction, can be studied through the measurement of magnetic signatures enabling remote access to internal properties of Earth. These signatures are frequently associated with magnetic anomalies or small deviations from the main field. However, measurements from space lack high spatial resolution due to the long distance from lithospheric sources. Surface measurements are affected by local magnetic sources and insufficient for providing adequate spatial information in a continuous manner. Here, the altitude of magnetic field observations is a critical variable for high-resolution mapping, and for separating external magnetic fields from the lithospheric contribution [139, 140]. For these reasons, monitoring the geomagnetic field at 85–100 km altitude continuously and with spatial resolution could contribute to the mapping and understanding of the inner Earth.

It is also important to have access to measuring the magnetic field at high altitude because it allows to monitor space weather as the main driver of the external field. Due to the proximity of the sodium layer to the D and E regions of the ionosphere (between 70 km to 120 km altitude) measuring the geomagnetic field in the mesosphere opens the possibility to map local current structures in the dynamo region [87].

In fact, there is an increasing interest to employ LGS magnetometry as a tool to investigate the magnetic field disturbances in the mesosphere around the polar region [121]. The driver of this research is to advance the understanding of the ionospheric current system whose changes are connected to solar activity, gravity waves, and the interaction between the ionosphere and thermosphere system [141]. The technique of LGS magnetometry has the potential to probe magnetic field disturbances produced by small-scale auroral electric currents in the E-region that can only be detected by a sensor nearby, where only sporadic research rocket measurements have access to.

#### 4.9. Directions for future progress

After the successful demonstrations of LGS based magnetometry, there are many directions for refinement and improvement of the technique, including:

- Development of compact systems for deployment on regional and global networks of magnetometers. Laser technology has evolved such that robust systems currently employed in astronomical observatories, could be also transformed into dedicated magnetometry systems for field deployment.
- Increased sensitivity with readily available higher power guide star lasers (the power of the cw lasers currently used in LGS is approaching 100 W).
- Development of methods to measure the *B*-field in polar regions (for example, by using alignment based magnetometry).
- Development of methods to sense gradients in the *B*-field. This can be done by "synthetic gradiometry", i.e., by combining readings from several LGS magnetometers or by toggling the LGS location on the sky.
- Development of methods to get altitude resolution, likely with pulsed laser and gated receivers.
- Development of methods to sense during daytime, which would bring additional information about daylight phenomena and allow uninterrupted around-the-clock observation.
- Improving the sensitivity by increasing the return-photon signal via mirrorless lasing Sec. 5 or satellite-assisted techniques Sec. 6.

### 5. Mirrorless-lasing magnetometry

One of the possible detection modalities considered as part of the original REMAS project (Sec. 2.1) involved detection of amplified spontaneous emission (ASE) from excited Xe or Kr atoms. The potential advantage of such detection as opposed to detecting nearly isotropic fluorescence is that the ASE beam could be directional, with one of the preferential emission directions being back towards the source. Obtaining directional emission from atmospheric Xe and Kr is challenging, and, as far as we know was not accomplished in relation to REMAS. The basic idea was revived many years later in the context of LGS magnetometry, although on-sky demonstration has not yet been reported.

Although LGS-based magnetometry, see Sec. 4, is the state of the art of remote Earth-field magnetometry, the sensitivity of current scheme, based on nearly isotropic fluorescence, is limited by the scarce amount of detected light from the mesosphere, because the small solid angle (typ.  $10^{-10}$ ) of detection. This strongly limits the magnetic field sensitivity to about  $28 \,\mathrm{nT}/\sqrt{\mathrm{Hz}}$ , necessitating measurement times over several minutes in order to achieve the desired levels of sensitivity with this technique [142]. Thus, a natural improvement of LGS-based techniques for remote magnetometry relies on increasing the return flux of the LGS. In addition to improving the magnetic sensitivity, increasing the return flux would have a high impact in astronomy because the performance of adaptive optics systems increases with the return flux, and the requirements are stringent in view of the upcoming generation of extremely large telescopes. Increasing the return flux could also enable daylight operation of LGS based instrumentation.

One way to address this issue is to "force" the atoms to radiate back toward the source. The use of mirrorless lasing [143] for increasing the LGS return flux was suggested in [144]. It was indeed demonstrated, in laboratory conditions, that highly directional emission of infrared light in the backward direction can be generated from sodium vapors excited by two cw lasers [145], see Sec. 5.1. Later, these studies were extended to remote detection of the sodium ground-state free-precession under the influence of an external magnetic field by the generated infrared light [22], see Sec. 5.2. The latter is promising for remote sensing of Earth magnetic field as the technique enables scalar magnetometry in the Earth-field range without the need of calibration, see Sec. 5.3. A work-in-progress modelling of mirrorless lasing is presented in Sec. 5.4. Scaling of this technique to the sky is being investigated, see Sec. 5.5.

### 5.1. The concept

The results reported by in Ref. [145] originated from the idea of inducing laser-like emission from the sodium layer, which due to its high directionality in the backwards



Figure 14: Experimental setup for ML-based stand-off magnetometry. Blue shading on the upper left represents a measurement period. PD – photodiode; PBS – polarizing beam splitter; GP – glass plate; L – lens; BD – beam dump. The right inset shows the energy levels of sodium

direction, could increase the return flux by several orders of magnitude with respect to traditional sodium laser guide stars. Although the general physical mechanisms of ASE generation were understood, other effects were found during the experiments, for example the spiking behavior of ML [146] and the dependence of the strength of coherent emission on the local magnetic field. The latter was recently used to perform stand-off magnetometry from a sodium vapor cell [22] as discussed in the following section.

### 5.2. Experimental realization

The energy level scheme used in Ref. [145] to demonstrate Continuous mirrorless lasing in sodium vapor is shown in Fig. 14. Lasing was based on amplified 2.21  $\mu$ m spontaneous emission between the  $4P_{3/2}$  and  $4S_{1/2}$  states. To achieve this, the atoms in the  $3S_{1/2}$  ground level were pumped successively to the  $4D_{5/2}$  state with a 589 nm light beam resonant with the  $3S_{1/2}$  to  $3P_{3/2}$  transition and a 569 nm light beam resonant with the  $3P_{3/2}$  to  $4D_{5/2}$  transition. These two co-propagating light beams were spatially overlapped and were set to the same circular polarization to enhance the overall pumping rate. Atoms in the  $4D_{5/2}$  state decay into the  $4P_{3/2}$  state, resulting in population inversion between the  $4P_{3/2}$  and  $4S_{1/2}$  states in an elongated interaction region defined by the light beams. Such population inversion provides gain for the 2.21  $\mu$ m spontaneous emission and leads to 2.21  $\mu$ m mirrorless lasing both in the forward and backward directions. The backward-directed radiation can be used for remote magnetometry, as the amount of population inversion and the intensity of subsequent mirrorless lasing are dependent on the ground-state spin polarization, and thus are influenced by the magnetic field.



Figure 15: Experimental results of ML-based stand-off magnetometry [22]. (a) Free-precession signals. (b) The amplitude spectra of the free precession signals shown in (a) and its Lorentzian fittings. (c) Measured magnetic fields at different bias magnetic field applied.

A challenge for extending mirrorless lasing detection to high-sensitivity magnetometry is that the strong light required for generation of mirrorless lasing inevitably disrupts the ground-state spin precession, which is incompatible with continuous readout of spin polarization commonly used in atomic magnetometers. To overcome this challenge, a three-stage method based on the principle of "free" Larmor precession of the ground state atomic spins was adopted [22]. The three stages are: 1. Optical pumping of the ground-state spin polarization with a 589 nm pump beam tuned to the sodium  $D_2$ -line  $(3S_{1/2} \rightarrow 3P_{3/2} \text{ transition})$ ; 2. Free evolution of the atomic spins "in the dark"; 3. Readout of the atomic polarization via mirrorless lasing, the intensity of which depends on the ground-state spin polarization. The measurement is repeated with different evolution times, and the combined result reconstructs the full evolution of spin polarization, which is a damped oscillation with a central frequency at the Larmor frequency, see Fig. 15(a). Measuring the central frequency enables scalar magnetometry that does not require calibration or precise knowledge of multiple experimental parameters in mirrorless lasing, see Fig. 15(b)and Fig. 15(c).

### 5.3. Applications

As most of the experimental apparatus can be remote from the atomic vapor sensing the magnetic field, this mirrorless lasing-based stand-off magnetometry provides opportunity for hazardous environment monitoring or remote geophysical research. For example, it can be operated in harsh environments near nuclear reactors or particle accelerators, where it is impossible to place conventional sensors or electronics.

In the case of vapor cell mirrorless lasing magnetometry, the sensitivity could, in principle, be further improved if the vapor cells are filled with buffer gas such as He,  $N_2$  or Ne to extend coherence times as the atoms would spend more time in the light-beam area. This is a subject of ongoing research.

Apart from using vapor cells or the mesospheric sodium, sodium vapor can also be produced in plasma near the surface of salt water (or similar environments). Magnetometry with sodium atoms in such plasma was recently demonstrated [64] and this approach can potentially be combined with mirrorless lasing, another topic of current research.

## 5.4. Theory

The problem of directed mirrorless emission has been studied by various authors in the decades since the invention of the laser [147–149]. In the context of remote sensing, it is typical not to make a distinction between amplified spontaneous emission and mirrorless lasing, and we follow this approach here as well, even though one may discuss possible differences based on, for instance, the second-order correlation function of the light.

Below we briefly outline our work-in-progress estimates relevant for atmospheric remote magnetometry. A similar discussion can be found in Ref. [150].

Consider an atomic medium with a ground state  $|0\rangle$  and three other states that decay in a cascade  $|3\rangle \rightarrow |2\rangle \rightarrow |1\rangle \rightarrow |0\rangle$  (see the inset in Fig. 16). Atoms are pumped from the ground state to the state  $|3\rangle$  at a rate P. If the effect of reabsorbed light on the level populations is negligible (an assumption examined below), the steady-state population densities  $n_{0,1,2,3}$  of the states can be deduced from

$$n_{0} + n_{1} + n_{2} + n_{3} = n_{t},$$
  

$$\Gamma_{2}n_{2} - \Gamma_{1}n_{1} = 0,$$
  

$$\Gamma_{3}n_{3} - \Gamma_{2}n_{2} = 0,$$
  

$$Pn_{0} - \Gamma_{3}n_{3} = 0,$$
(10)

where  $n_t$  is the total population density and  $\Gamma_i$  are the spontaneous decay rates with all other decay branches being negligible. Assuming high enough pumping rate



Figure 16: Mirrorless lasing in a pencil-shaped sample. The inset shows a simplified level and transition scheme (see text).

(another assumption examined below), P drops out and we find

$$n_{1} = \frac{n_{t}}{1 + \Gamma_{1}/\Gamma_{2} + \Gamma_{1}/\Gamma_{3}},$$

$$n_{2} = \frac{n_{t}}{1 + \Gamma_{2}/\Gamma_{1} + \Gamma_{2}/\Gamma_{3}}.$$
(11)

This gives for the inversion density  $n_i = n_2 - n_1$  on the  $|1\rangle \rightarrow |2\rangle$  transition

$$n_i = \frac{\Gamma_1 / \Gamma_2 - 1}{1 + \Gamma_1 / \Gamma_2 + \Gamma_1 / \Gamma_3} n_t \,. \tag{12}$$

We see that population inversion (positive  $n_i$ ) can be obtained if  $\Gamma_1 > \Gamma_2$ , i.e., if atoms decay out of state  $|1\rangle$  faster than they are replenished by decay from state  $|2\rangle$ .

Now consider a column of such atoms with cross-section A and length L. Photons are spontaneously emitted on the  $|2\rangle \rightarrow |1\rangle$  transition at a rate  $\Gamma_2 n_2$ . For simplicity, we assume that the photons are emitted isotropically. A photon resonant with the  $|1\rangle \rightarrow |2\rangle$  transition that travels a distance  $d\ell$  through the medium has a probability  $n_1\sigma d\ell$  to be absorbed and  $n_2\sigma d\ell$  to stimulate emission, for a net emission probability  $n_i\sigma d\ell$ , where  $\sigma$  is the resonant absorption cross section for the transition. ( $\sigma$ is proportional to the square of the transition wavelength, with numerical factors depending on the angular momenta and branching ratio involved in the transition.) If the transition is Doppler broadened with width  $\Gamma_D$ , only a fraction  $\Gamma_2/\Gamma_D$  of the photons will be resonant, so the average emission probability over all photons is  $d\ell/\ell_i$ , where  $\ell_i = \Gamma_D/(n_i\sigma\Gamma_2)$  is the "net emission length" – the travel distance through the atomic medium required for a photon to induce at least one net emission on average. Considering any straight-line path through the medium, we write  $L_{\Omega}(\ell)$  (in units of photons/s/sr/m<sup>2</sup>) for the radiance of photons traveling along the path, i.e., the number of photons per unit time passing through an area element dA containing the point at distance  $\ell$  along the path within a differential solid angle  $d\Omega$  containing the path direction. Including the spontaneous and stimulated emission terms from above, the change in radiance along such a straight-line path is described by

$$\frac{dL_{\Omega}(\ell)}{d\ell} = \frac{L_{\Omega}(\ell)}{\ell_i} + \frac{\Gamma_2 n_2}{4\pi}.$$
(13)

Integrating over the path, we have

$$L_{\Omega}(\ell) = \frac{\ell_i n_2 \Gamma_2}{4\pi} (e^{\ell/\ell_i} - 1) \,. \tag{14}$$

If we take the detector to be far from, and on-axis with, the column, we need consider only photons that travel nearly lengthwise down the column with path length L in the medium. Thus, integrating over the area A, we find for the photon radiant intensity  $I_{\Omega}$  (in photons per steradian) at the detector

$$I_{\Omega,\text{det}} = \frac{A\ell_i n_2 \Gamma_2}{4\pi} (e^{L/\ell_i} - 1) = \frac{A}{4\pi\sigma} \frac{\Gamma_1 \Gamma_D}{\Gamma_1 - \Gamma_2} (e^{L/\ell_i} - 1).$$
(15)

If the detector is off-axis from the column, a geometrical factor will arise due to the fact that photons arriving at the detector have traveled different lengths through the active medium.

For an optically thin medium,  $L/\ell_i \ll 1$ , the radiant intensity (15) reduces to

$$I_{\Omega,\text{det}} \approx \frac{ALn_2\Gamma_2}{4\pi} \,, \tag{16}$$

i.e., the photons due to spontaneous emission only, and the intensity increases linearly with  $L/\ell_i$ . On the other hand, above the optical thickness threshold  $L/\ell_i > 1$ , Eq. (15) indicates that the intensity approaches exponential growth. This threshold condition gives the minimum atomic density needed for mirrorless lasing. If we drop the assumption of very high pumping rate P, the optical thickness also becomes a function of P, leading to interdependent thresholds for density and pumping rate. The exponential increase of emission with optical thickness cannot continue forever. If the photon irradiance (photon flux per unit area) E becomes large enough to perform significant pumping on the  $|1\rangle \rightarrow |2\rangle$  transition, the  $|1\rangle$  and  $|2\rangle$  populations will start to equalize, causing saturation. Saturation occurs at an irradiance on the order of

$$E \sim \frac{\Gamma_D}{\sigma} \,. \tag{17}$$

The highest irradiance occurs at the end of the column. We can find the irradiance there by integrating the radiance (14) over solid angle. For a sufficiently long and narrow column ( $A \ll L^2$ ) and large enough optical thickness, the intensity will be dominated by the photons that have traveled on the paths of length L that begin at the other end of the column. These paths occupy a solid angle of  $A/L^2$ , so the integration is equivalent to multiplying (14) by  $A/L^2$  and setting  $\ell = L$ :

$$E_{\rm end} = \frac{A}{L^2} \frac{\ell_i n_2 \Gamma_2}{4\pi} (e^{L/\ell_i} - 1) \,. \tag{18}$$

Comparing with Eq. (15), we see that the irradiance at the end of the column is related to the radiant intensity at the detector by

$$E_{\rm end} = \frac{I_{\Omega,\rm det}}{L^2} \,. \tag{19}$$

Thus, equating (17) and (19), the ASE radiant intensity at the detector will begin to saturate at

$$I_{\Omega,\text{det}} \sim \frac{L^2 \Gamma_D}{\sigma} \,,$$
 (20)

which, from Eq. (15), corresponds to an optical thickness of on the order of

$$L/\ell_i \sim \ln\left(4\pi \frac{L^2}{A} \frac{\Gamma_1 - \Gamma_2}{\Gamma_1}\right)$$
 (21)

We can apply an analysis of this sort to estimate the threshold pump laser power and atomic density for the experimental realization of mirrorless lasing in sodium discussed in Sec. 5.2 and Ref. [145]. The sodium system is more complicated than the four-level system considered above, and requires two pump laser fields (Fig. 14). We form the equations for the atomic steady state [analogous to Eq. (10)], including the Zeeman substructure for each level, but neglecting hyperfine structure for simplicity. We also include the effect of the atomic Doppler shifts by dividing the atomic velocity distribution into velocity groups and solving for each group separately. Using the reported values for the laser beam diameters and the temperature of the atomic



Figure 17: (a) Estimated above-threshold mirrorless lasing region (shaded) as a function of 589 nm and 569 nm pump power at a fixed atomic column density  $(1.2 \times 10^{11} \text{ cm}^{-2})$  for the conditions of the experiment in Ref. [145]. (b) Above-threshold region as a function of 589 nm pump power and column density, taking 569 nm pump power to be eight times 589 nm power.

medium [145], we can solve numerically to find the lasing threshold (optical thickness equal to one) as a function of laser power and atomic column density. Figure 17(a) shows the pump powers above threshold (shaded region) for a fixed value of column density. We see that the optimal power in the 569 nm pump field is proportional to that of the 589 nm field. Varying the power of the two pump fields proportionally, we plot the region above threshold as a function of pump power and column density in Fig. 17(b). The estimated threshold values shown here are around an order of magnitude smaller than those reported in Ref. [145]. For example, the experimental threshold column density was found to be about  $3 \times 10^{12}$  cm<sup>-2</sup> for 30 mW pump power at 589 nm and 12 mW at 569 nm, whereas our estimate from Fig. 17(b) is less than  $2 \times 10^{11}$  cm<sup>-2</sup> for high enough pumping rates. This may be partially explained by simplifications that we made in the model, including neglecting hyperfine structure.

# 5.5. Scaling to the sky

In analyzing a potential mirrorless-lasing experiment in the mesospheric sodium layer, there are a number of complicating factors relative to a vapor-cell experiment such as described in Ref. [145]. These include collisions between the sodium atoms with nitrogen and oxygen molecules, which cause changes in atomic velocity, spin randomization, and quenching, the velocity-changing effect of radiation pressure due to the pump light, and spin precession due to the geomagnetic field [71]. However, if we neglect such complications, we can apply the same estimate discussed at the end



Figure 18: Estimated above-threshold mirrorless lasing region (shaded) for the mesospheric sodium layer as a function of 589 nm pump power and sodium column density, taking 569 nm pump power to be eight times 589 nm power.

of Sec. 5.4 for the vapor-cell experiment to the mesospheric case. For the scheme with ASE at 2.2  $\mu$ m, this requires adjusting only the values of the laser-beam diameters, which we take to be 1 m for the sodium-layer experiment, and the temperature of the medium, which is an average of 185 K in the mesosphere. The resulting threshold curve is shown in Fig. 18. The much larger laser beam diameter means that higher pump power is required than for the vapor cell (note that the light power in Fig. 18 is given in watts, as opposed to milliwatts for Fig. 17). The larger difficulty, though, is that the natural column density of the sodium layer is approximately  $4 \times 10^9$  cm<sup>-2</sup>, more than an order of magnitude below the (likely optimistic) estimated threshold column density shown in Fig. 18, and there is no way to control this density, short of extreme measures such as seeding the mesosphere with sodium.

Alternative pumping schemes involving ASE on other transitions can be more favorable. In particular, longer wavelength transitions have larger absorption cross sections (proportional to  $\lambda^2$ ) and narrower Doppler widths (inversely proportional to  $\lambda$ ), which tends to increase optical thickness. However, differences in lifetimes and branching ratios may cancel out these gains. For example, an estimate for a scheme involving 10.8  $\mu$ m ASE on the 6S<sub>1/2</sub> to 6P<sub>3/2</sub> transition of Na indicates that the column density requirement could be a factor of approximately three lower than for the estimate shown in Fig. 18.

A survey of all possible transitions in atoms and ions in the upper atmosphere that require either one- or two-step excitation was performed in Ref. [89]. It was concluded that none of the metallic species present (Na, Fe, Mg<sup>+</sup>, Si<sup>+</sup>, Ca<sup>+</sup>, and K) possesses a transition that could produce an optical thickness significantly greater than one, and so atmospheric mirrorless lasing in these species was ruled out. (The  $10.8 \,\mu\text{m}$ transition mentioned above provided the highest potential optical thickness.) On the other hand, atmospheric O, N, and N<sup>+</sup> were found to have transitions viable for ML, although excitation schemes would be challenging, as the excitation wavelengths are outside the atmospheric transmission window.

A possible approach to reducing the column density requirement is to perform "snowplowing" of the atomic velocity distribution using frequency-chirped pump light, thus reducing the Doppler width of the mesospheric sodium. This type of technique has been studied [122] and demonstrated [123] as a means of combating the hole-burning effect of radiation pressure. However, a much more radical modification of the atomic velocity distribution than was shown in these studies would be needed in order to significantly reduce the threshold column density for mirrorless lasing.

## 6. Satellite-assisted magnetometry of mesospheric sodium

# 6.1. The concept

Satellite-assisted magnetometry was proposed as an alternative approach to address the relatively limited sensitivity and operating schemes of fluorescence based mesospheric Na magnetometry as discussed in Sec. 4. Motivated by recent advances in small, inexpensive satellite platforms such as CubeSats [151, 152], this proposal suggests the direct detection of laser photons by employing a miniaturized trackable satellite equipped with a polarimeter. After optically pumping the sodium atoms in the mesosphere, the Larmor frequency could be measured by detecting the magneto-optical rotation or the transmission of the polarized probe-laser light with the photodetector onboard the satellite.



Figure 19: (a) A schematic illustration of the experimental setup. (b) Measurements of Earth's magnetic field near the poles and at the equator. (c) Laser beam control sequence. (d) Laser beam cross section at the altitude of the satellite, showing pump and probe regions within the laser beam while tracking.

#### 6.2. Possible protocols and sensitivity

The proposed system involves a ground-based telescope that launches pump and probe beams, and a trackable miniaturized satellite launched into low Earth orbit (LEO) at an altitude of 500 km (this choice is somewhat arbitrary; we use this value for estimates). Once the satellite is within the laser spot, pumping is performed for about a millisecond (several atomic sodium ground-state spin relaxation times). The pump beam could either be modulated (in amplitude, frequency, or polarization) synchronously with the Larmor precession or be a strong continuous light pulse. The pumping interval is followed by optical probing of comparable duration when polarization rotation is monitored. Each pump-probe measurement cycle takes about 2 ms and can be repeated as long as the satellite is visible within the laser beam. A wavelength of 589 nm and a launch telescope diameter of 30 cm result in a beam spot size of  $0.5 \,\mathrm{m}$  at the Na layer (2.4 m at the altitude of the satellite). With a typical guide star laser power of 20 W, the sodium saturation parameter is on the order of  $10^2$ . This means that there is enough light to polarize the sodium atoms, and that the probing power needs to be attenuated to avoid repolarization. Alternatively, the beam area could be increased by two orders of magnitude so that efficient pumping can be achieved without introducing depolarization effects upon probing.

In general, the launched laser beam makes an arbitrary angle with the Earth's magnetic field. However, one can identify two extreme cases, namely measurements near the poles, where the magnetic field lines run parallel to the laser beam, and at the equator, where they are perpendicular to each other. The field-dependent magneto-optical rotation can be estimated given the Na absorption length and decay rate. In this measurement, we expect the sensitivity to be limited by photon shot noise, which is solely determined by the total number of photons  $N_p$  that the satellite could detect. Assuming an on-board detector with a diameter of 10 cm,  $N_p$  is approximately  $1.0 \times 10^{15} \,\mathrm{s}^{-1}$ , leading to a sensitivity of  $4.9 \,\mathrm{pT}/\sqrt{\mathrm{Hz}}$  when measuring at the equator, and half that value at the poles.

### 7. Air lasing and its application to magnetometry

Processes resembling mirrorless lasing in Na discussed in Sec. 5 can also occur with more common species occurring in the atmosphere. In fact, a process of stimulated emission in which one of the naturally occurring species in the atmosphere turns into the active medium of a laser is referred to as "air lasing". This became possible with the advent of powerful pulsed lasers and remains an active area of current research [153].

A large body of work studies remote sensing diagnostics to monitor combustion processes in gas mixtures, see [154]. In the context of remote atmospheric sensing as discussed above, directionality and coherence of amplified spontaneous emission boost the signal at the receiver. For combustion studies, lasing of some of the constituents is often more of an unwanted effect since interference effects have to be taken into account that often reduce spatial resolution.

Air lasing was demonstrated with many different schemes and gain media. The paper describing the first experimental demonstration of amplified spontaneous emission in air recognized the potential for remote sensing [155, 156]. In 2003 Luo et al. observed an exponential increase in the amount of back-scattered fluorescence from N<sub>2</sub> molecules that were subjected to an intense 42 fs laser pulse. The high laser intensity of up to  $5 \times 10^{13} \,\mathrm{W/cm^2}$  creates a so-called filament in nitrogen gas, i.e. a low-density plasma column left behind a continuous series of self-foci as a result of the dynamic interplay of nonlinear effects. The amount of back-scattered light associated with transitions in molecular nitrogen as well as molecular nitrogen ions scaled exponentially with the length of the filament: a clear sign of amplification in the backward-scattered fluorescence.

In 2010, Arthur Dogariu et al. experimentally demonstrated high-gain backward lasing in air [157]. The experiment used a 226 nm, 100 ps pulsed laser to first dissociate molecular oxygen and then pump the resulting atomic oxygen in a two-photon process into an excited state, see Fig. 20. Optical gain and lasing are then observed at 845 nm. Further measurements confirmed a gain of  $62 \text{ cm}^{-1}$  for this wavelength, the directionality via a measured divergence of 40 mrad consistent with diffraction limited lasing from the cross section of the pump volume, and an intensity ratio of about 8000 into the same solid angle between light emitted in the backward direction and orthogonal to it.

Several other groups are working on various aspects of air lasing with molecular nitrogen or oxygen. A comparative study [158] explored nitrogen lasing in a selection of gas mixtures (nitrogen with argon, neon or xenon). Several variations on the method were proposed by researchers who were interested in methods for the detection of trace impurities in the atmosphere and refer to it as standoff spectroscopy



Figure 20: Schematic of the "air-lasing" experiment reproduced from Ref. [157]. Ultraviolet light at 226 nm dissociates oxygen molecules and excites oxygen atoms from the ground state via two-photon absorption. Population inversion and mirrorless lasing occur at the infrared 845 nm transition.

(SOS) [159]. An interesting idea is to make use of the dispersion properties of light in air to overlap laser pulses of different wavelength at an arbitrary distance. Light pulses with smaller group velocity are followed with delayed pulses with larger group velocity. When the pulses overlap nonlinear processes including atmospheric selffocusing create a weakly ionized seed plasma filament, this plasma is then "heated" by another longer (ns) pulsed laser beam to increase the plasma density, resulting in a stronger counter-propagating laser signal [160]. Another variation on the optical dissociation technique was demonstrated with water vapor [161]. The authors showed backward and forward lasing from water vapor in air with a three-photon process: an initial photon dissociates hydrogen from oxygen, followed by two-photon pumping of hydrogen producing lasing on the Balmer-alpha line.

Apart from molecules present in the air ( $O_2$ ,  $N_2$  or water vapor), lasing activity can also be generated using existing atomic species in the atmosphere. For example, backward air lasing using argon with a molar fraction down to 10% was demonstrated [162]. The authors have observed collimated, narrow-band and coherent emission at 1327 nm after femto- and picosecond excitation at 261 nm. Mechanisms of air lasing in argon have been recently elucidated in Ref. [163].

Stand-off atmospheric magnetometry can be envisioned by means of magneticfield-dependent microwave scattering from laser-induced plasmas. The authors of Ref. [164] have shown that the depolarization of plasma-scattered microwaves is affected by both the direction and magnitude of the magnetic field and could constitute a way to realize remote atmospheric vector magnetometry with nanosecond temporal resolution.

### 8. Conclusions and outlook

Remote-detection optical magnetometry is important for a variety of applications ranging from defense to basic atmospheric and geosciences. Although the field is more than half a century old, its development has not been as fast as in some other technological areas. However, the advent of powerful lasers and modern nonlinearoptics techniques gives the field a new boost, with "sky magnetometers" based on laser-guide star techniques appearing to be particularly promising.

Although this review is largely limited to Earth-based remote sensing, the discussed methods can also be applied in the field of space, and in particular, planetary magnetometry. Indeed, a general problem for spacecraft-based magnetometry is the familiar issue of discrimination of the external signals of interest from the platform noise [165]. Here, remote detection may, once again, provide a powerful solution.

We predict that the growing adoption of Artificial Intelligence (AI) will drive demand for advanced sensing techniques, particularly remote sensing. Historically, processing large, noisy datasets (for example, from urban environments [9]) has been a major bottleneck. However, data processing automation, enabled by AI-driven correlation recognition and anomaly detection, now overcomes this obstacle [166], fueling growth in the field reviewed here.

## Acknowledgements

The authors are grateful to Jon P. Davis, Arthur Dogariu, Paul Hickson, Jürgen Matzka, Richard Miles, and Frank A. Narducci for helpful discussions. This work was supported in part by the German Federal Ministry of Education and Research (BMBF) within the Quantentechnologien program (FKZ 13N15064 and FKZ 13N16457). FPB received support from the European Union's Horizon 2020 research and innovation program under the Marie Skłodowska-Curie grant agreement No. 893150.

# References

 [1] R. Parker, A. Ruffell, D. Hughes, J. Pringle, Geophysics and the search of freshwater bodies: A review, Science and Justice 50 (3) (2010) 141 - 149. doi:https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scijus.2009.09.001. URL http://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/ S1355030609001348

- [2] C. R. de Souza Filho, A. R. Nunes, E. P. Leite, L. V. S. Monteiro, R. P. Xavier, Spatial analysis of airborne geophysical data applied to geological mapping and mineral prospecting in the serra leste region, carajás mineral province, brazil, Surveys in Geophysics 28 (5) (2007) 377–405.
- [3] V. Pilipenko, O. Kozyreva, M. Engebretson, A. Soloviev, Ulf wave power index for space weather and geophysical applications: A review, Russian Journal of Earth Sciences 17 (2) (2017).
- [4] D. Murzin, D. J. Mapps, K. Levada, V. Belyaev, A. Omelyanchik, L. Panina, V. Rodionova, Ultrasensitive magnetic field sensors for biomedical applications, Sensors 20 (6) (2020) 1569. doi:10.3390/s20061569.
- [5] K.-M. C. Fu, G. Z. Iwata, A. Wickenbrock, D. Budker, Sensitive magnetometry in challenging environments, AVS Quantum Sci. 2 (4) (2020) 044702.
- Bevilacqua, [6] G. V. Biancalana, A. B.-A. Baranga, Υ. Dancheva, С. Rossi, Microtesla nmr j-coupling spectroscopy with an unshielded atomic magnetometer, J. Magn. Reson. 263 (2016) 65 - 70. doi:https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jmr.2015.12.018. http://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/ URL S1090780715003195
- [7] M. C. D. Tayler, T. Theis, T. F. Sjolander, J. W. Blanchard, A. Kentner, S. Pustelny, A. Pines, D. Budker, Invited review article: Instrumentation for nuclear magnetic resonance in zero and ultralow magnetic field, Rev. Sci. Instrum. 88 (9) (2017) 091101. arXiv:https://aip.scitation.org/doi/pdf/ 10.1063/1.5003347, doi:10.1063/1.5003347. URL https://aip.scitation.org/doi/abs/10.1063/1.5003347
- [8] T. A. Bowen, E. Zhivun, A. Wickenbrock, V. Dumont, S. D. Bale, C. Pankow, G. Dobler, J. S. Wurtele, D. Budker, A network of magnetometers for multiscale urban science and informatics, Geoscientific Instrumentation, Methods and Data Systems 8 (1) (2019) 129–138.
- [9] V. Dumont, T. A. Bowen, R. Roglans, G. Dobler, M. S. Sharma, A. Karpf, S. D. Bale, A. Wickenbrock, E. Zhivun, T. Kornack, J. S. Wurtele, D. Budker, Do cities have a unique magnetic pulse?, Journal of Applied Physics 131 (20) (2022) 204902. arXiv:https://doi.org/10.1063/5.0088264, doi:10.1063/ 5.0088264.

URL https://doi.org/10.1063/5.0088264

- [10] J. M. Higbie, S. M. Rochester, B. Patton, R. Holzlöhner, D. Bonaccini Calia, D. Budker, Magnetometry with mesospheric sodium, Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences 108 (9) (2011) 3522-3525. doi:10.1073/pnas. 1013641108.
- [11] D. Budker, M. Romalis, Optical magnetometry, Nature physics 3 (4) (2007) 227–234.
- [12] J. Davis, M. Rankin, L. Bobb, C. Giranda, M. Squicciarini, Remas source book, Mission and Avionics Tech. Dept., Naval Air Development Center (1989).
- [13] T. L. Chng, Remote detection of trace species for combustion and atmospheric magnetometry, Ph.D. thesis, Princeton University (2017).
- [14] L. A. Johnson, P. Sprangle, B. Hafizi, A. Ting, Remote atmospheric optical magnetometry, Journal of Applied Physics 116 (6) (2014) 64902.
- [15] Z. Epstein, P. Sprangle, An optical magnetometry mechanism above the surface of seawater, IEEE Journal of Quantum Electronics 52 (6) (2016) 1–6.
- [16] B. Patton, O. Versolato, D. C. Hovde, E. Corsini, J. M. Higbie, D. Budker, A remotely interrogated all-optical 87 rb magnetometer, Applied Physics Letters 101 (8) (2012) 083502.
- [17] F. Pedreros Bustos, R. Holzlöhner, S. Rochester, D. Bonaccini Calia, J. Hellemeier, D. Budker, Simulations of continuous-wave sodium laser guide stars with polarization modulation at larmor frequency, in: Adaptive Optics Systems VI, Vol. 10703, International Society for Optics and Photonics, 2018, p. 107033R.
- [18] T. J. Kane, P. D. Hillman, C. A. Denman, M. Hart, R. P. Scott, M. E. Purucker, S. J. Potashnik, Laser remote magnetometry using mesospheric sodium, JOUR-NAL OF GEOPHYSICAL RESEARCH-SPACE PHYSICS 123 (8) (2018) 6171–6188. doi:10.1029/2018JA025178.
- [19] F. Pedreros Bustos, D. Bonaccini Calia, D. Budker, M. Centrone, J. Hellemeier, P. Hickson, R. Holzlöhner, S. Rochester, Remote sensing of geomagnetic fields and atomic collisions in the mesosphere, Nature communications 9 (1) (2018) 1–8.

- [20] T. Fan, X. Yang, J. Dong, L. Zhang, S. Cui, J. Qian, R. Dong, K. Deng, T. Zhou, K. Wei, Y. Feng, W. Chen, Remote magnetometry with mesospheric sodium based on gated photon counting, Journal of Geophysical Research: Space Physics 124 (9) (2019) 7505-7512. doi:https://doi.org/10.1029/2019JA026956. URL https://agupubs.onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/abs/10.1029/ 2019JA026956
- [21] F. Pedreros Bustos, D. Bonaccini Calia, D. Budker, M. Centrone, J. Hellemeier, P. Hickson, R. Holzlöhner, S. Rochester, Polarization-driven spin precession of mesospheric sodium atoms, Optics letters 43 (23) (2018) 5825–5828.
- [22] R. Zhang, E. Klinger, F. Pedreros Bustos, A. Akulshin, H. Guo, A. Wickenbrock, D. Budker, Stand-off magnetometry with directional emission from sodium vapors, Phys. Rev. Lett. 127 (2021) 173605. doi:10.1103/ PhysRevLett.127.173605. URL https://link.aps.org/doi/10.1103/PhysRevLett.127.173605
- [23] T. Dang, E. Klinger, F. Pedreros Bustos, A. Wickenbrock, R. Holzlöhner, D. Budker, Satellite-assisted laser magnetometry with mesospheric sodium, Optics Continuum 1 (5) (2022) 1263–1269.
- [24] Y. Zheng, S. Li, K. Xing, X. Zhang, Unmanned aerial vehicles for magnetic surveys: A review on platform selection and interference suppression, Drones 5 (3) (2021) 93. doi:10.3390/drones5030093.
   URL http://dx.doi.org/10.3390/drones5030093
- [25] R. Zhang, F. Hanselmann, R. Fochs, M. Lawrence, K. Hurley, M. Prouty, Motion noise reduction in drone magnetometry using a dead-zone-free totalfield magnetometer system, The Leading Edge 41 (7) (2022) 481–485.
- [26] N. Kato, T. Shigetomi, Underwater navigation for long-range autonomous underwater vehicles using geomagnetic and bathymetric information, Advanced Robotics 23 (7-8) (2009) 787-803. doi:10.1163/156855309X443016.
   URL https://doi.org/10.1163/156855309X443016
- [27] S. Hu, J. Tang, Z. Ren, C. Chen, C. Zhou, X. Xiao, T. Zhao, Multiple underwater objects localization with magnetic gradiometry, IEEE Geoscience and Remote Sensing Letters 16 (2) (2018) 296–300. URL https://doi.org/10.1109/LGRS.2018.2870839

- [28] D. F. J. Kimball, D. Budker, Optical magnetometry, Cambridge University Press, 2013.
- [29] W. E. Bell, A. L. Bloom, Optically driven spin precession, Physical Review Letters 6 (6) (1961) 280.
- [30] D. Budker, W. Gawlik, D. Kimball, S. Rochester, V. Yashchuk, A. Weis, Resonant nonlinear magneto-optical effects in atoms, Reviews of modern physics 74 (4) (2002) 1153.
- [31] D. Budker, D. Kimball, D. F. Kimball, D. P. DeMille, Atomic physics: an exploration through problems and solutions, 2nd Edition, Oxford University Press, USA, 2008.
- [32] G. J. Strongylis, R. C. Bohlin, Absolute calibration in the 1750 a-3350 a region, Publications of the Astronomical Society of the Pacific 91 (1979) 205. URL https://doi.org/10.1086/130472
- [33] J. Isaacs, P. Sprangle, Effect of laser noise on the propagation of laser radiation in dispersive and nonlinear media, JOSA 36 (2) (2019) 346.
- [34] L. Johnson, Interaction of intense laser pulses with gas for THz generation and remote magnetometry, Ph.D. thesis, University Of Mariland (2014).
- [35] E. B. Alexandrov, M. Auzinsh, D. Budker, D. F. Kimball, S. M. Rochester, V. V. Yashchuk, Dynamic effects in nonlinear magneto-optics of atoms and molecules, JOSA B 22 (1) (2005) 7–20. URL https://doi.org/10.1364/JOSAB.22.000007
- [36] S. Pustelny, W. Gawlik, S. M. Rochester, D. F. J. Kimball, V. V. Yashchuk, D. Budker, Nonlinear magneto-optical rotation with modulated light in tilted magnetic fields, Phys. Rev. A 74 (2006) 063420. doi:10.1103/PhysRevA.74.063420.
  URL https://link.aps.org/doi/10.1103/PhysRevA.74.063420
- [37] V. V. Yashchuk, D. Budker, W. Gawlik, D. F. Kimball, Y. P. Malakyan, S. M. Rochester, Selective addressing of high-rank atomic polarization moments, Phys. Rev. Lett. 90 (2003) 253001. doi:10.1103/PhysRevLett.90.253001. URL https://link.aps.org/doi/10.1103/PhysRevLett.90.253001

- [38] G. Breit, I. I. Rabi, Measurement of nuclear spin, Phys. Rev. 38 (1931) 2082-2083. doi:10.1103/PhysRev.38.2082.2.
   URL https://link.aps.org/doi/10.1103/PhysRev.38.2082.2
- [39] M. Auzinsh, D. Budker, S. Rochester, Optically polarized atoms: understanding light-atom interactions, Oxford University Press, 2010.
- [40] G. Bao, D. Kanta, D. Antypas, S. Rochester, K. Jensen, W. Zhang, A. Wickenbrock, D. Budker, All-optical spin locking in alkali-metal-vapor magnetometers, Phys. Rev. A 105 (2022) 043109. doi:10.1103/PhysRevA.105.043109. URL https://link.aps.org/doi/10.1103/PhysRevA.105.043109
- [41] K. Levi, A. Giat, L. Stern, Remote all optical chip-scale magnetometry, in: J. Scheuer, S. M. Shahriar (Eds.), Quantum Sensing, Imaging, and Precision Metrology, Vol. PC12447, International Society for Optics and Photonics, SPIE, 2023, p. PC1244713. doi:10.1117/12.2649735. URL https://doi.org/10.1117/12.2649735
- [42] K. Levi, A. Giat, L. Golan, E. Talker, L. Stern, Remote chip-scale quantum sensing of magnetic fields (2023). arXiv:2307.06130.
- [43] V. Shah, M. V. Romalis, Spin-exchange relaxation-free magnetometry using elliptically polarized light, Phys. Rev. A 80 (2009) 013416. doi:10.1103/ PhysRevA.80.013416.
   URL https://link.aps.org/doi/10.1103/PhysRevA.80.013416
- [44] A. L. Buck, Effects of the atmosphere on laser beam propagation, Appl. Opt. 6 (4) (1967) 703-708. doi:10.1364/AD.6.000703.
  URL http://opg.optica.org/ao/abstract.cfm?URI=ao-6-4-703
- [45] A. Weis, V. A. Sautenkov, T. W. Hänsch, Observation of ground-state zeeman coherences in the selective reflection from cesium vapor, Phys. Rev. A 45 (1992) 7991-7996. doi:10.1103/PhysRevA.45.7991.
   URL https://link.aps.org/doi/10.1103/PhysRevA.45.7991
- [46] E. Klinger, H. Azizbekyan, A. Sargsyan, C. Leroy, D. Sarkisyan, A. Papoyan, Proof of the feasibility of a nanocell-based wide-range optical magnetometer, Appl. Opt. 59 (8) (2020) 2231-2237. doi:10.1364/A0.373949.
  URL http://opg.optica.org/ao/abstract.cfm?URI=ao-59-8-2231
- [47] E. Arimondo, Coherent population trapping in laser spectroscopy, Progress in Optics 35 (1996) 257–354.

- [48] I. K. Kominis, T. W. Kornack, J. Allred, M. Romalis, A subfemtotesla multichannel atomic magnetometer, Nature 422 (2003) 596—599.
- [49] D. Budker, D. F. Kimball, S. M. Rochester, V. V. Yashchuk, M. Zolotorev, Sensitive magnetometry based on nonlinear magneto-optical rotation, Phys. Rev. A 62 (2000) 043403. doi:10.1103/PhysRevA.62.043403.
   URL https://link.aps.org/doi/10.1103/PhysRevA.62.043403
- А. Celikov, V. Velichansky, Sub-natural absorption |50| A. Akulshin. resonances on the d1 line of rubidium induced by coherent pop-Optics Communications 84 (3) ulation trapping, (1991)139 - 143.doi:https://doi.org/10.1016/0030-4018(91)90216-Z. URL https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/ 003040189190216Z
- [51] A. Nagel, L. Graf, A. Naumov, E. Mariotti, V. Biancalana, D. Meschede, R. Wynands, Experimental realization of coherent dark-state magnetometers, EUROPHYSICS LETTERS 44 (1) (1998) 31–36. doi:10.1209/epl/ i1998-00430-0.
- [52] M. O. Scully, M. Fleischhauer, High-sensitivity magnetometer based on indexenhanced media, Phys. Rev. Lett. 69 (1992) 1360-1363. doi:10.1103/ PhysRevLett.69.1360.
   URL https://link.aps.org/doi/10.1103/PhysRevLett.69.1360
- [53] M. Fleischhauer, A. Matsko, M. Scully, Quantum limit of optical magnetometry in the presence of ac stark shifts, Phys. Rev. A 62 (2000) 013808. doi:10.1103/ PhysRevA.62.013808.
- [54] A. Liu, P. Wolf, J. A. Lott, D. Bimberg, Vertical-cavity surface-emitting lasers for data communication and sensing, Photon. Res. 7 (2) (2019) 121-136. doi: 10.1364/PRJ.7.000121. URL http://opg.optica.org/prj/abstract.cfm?URI=prj-7-2-121
- [55] P. Schwindt, S. Knappe, V. Shah, L. Hollberg, J. Kitching, L. Liew, J. Moreland, Chip-scale atomic magnetometer, Appl. Phys. Lett. 85 (2004) 6409-6411.
   doi:10.1063/1.1839274.
   URL https://doi.org/10.1063/1.1839274
- [56] Y.-Y. Jau, E. Miron, A. B. Post, N. N. Kuzma, W. Happer, Push-pull optical pumping of pure superposition states, Phys. Rev. Lett. 93 (2004) 160802. doi:

10.1103/PhysRevLett.93.160802. URL https://link.aps.org/doi/10.1103/PhysRevLett.93.160802

- [57] E. Breschi, Z. D. Grujic, P. Knowles, A. Weis, A high-sensitivity push-pull magnetometer, Applied Physics Letters 104 (2) (2014). doi:10.1063/1.4861458.
- [58] J. Kitching, Chip-scale atomic devices, Applied Physics Reviews 5 (3) (2018) 031302. arXiv:https://doi.org/10.1063/1.5026238, doi:10.1063/ 1.5026238. URL https://doi.org/10.1063/1.5026238
- [59] C. Amtmann, A. Pollinger, M. Ellmeier, M. Dougherty, P. Brown, R. Lammegger, A. Betzler, M. Agú, C. Hagen, I. Jernej, J. Wilfinger, R. Baughen, A. Strickland, W. Magnes, Accuracy of the scalar magnetometer aboard esa's juice mission, Geoscientific Instrumentation, Methods and Data Systems 13 (1) (2024) 177–191. doi:10.5194/gi-13-177-2024. URL http://dx.doi.org/10.5194/gi-13-177-2024
- [60] M. Ellmeier, A. Betzler, C. Amtmann, A. Pollinger, C. Hagen, I. Jernej, M. Agú, W. Magnes, L. Windholz, M. Dougherty, P. Brown, R. Lammegger, Lower magnetic field measurement limit of the coupled dark state magnetometer, Measurement Science and Technology 35 (11) (2024) 115110. doi: 10.1088/1361-6501/ad6623. URL http://dx.doi.org/10.1088/1361-6501/ad6623
- [61] R. S. Grewal, M. Pulido, G. Pati, R. Tripathi, Magnetometry using sodium fluorescence with synchronous modulation of two-photon resonant light fields, Applied Physics Letters 117 (21) (2020) 214002.
- [62] T. Fan, L. Zhang, X. Yang, S. Cui, T. Zhou, Y. Feng, Magnetometry using fluorescence of sodium vapor, Opt. Lett. 43 (1) (2018) 1-4. doi:10.1364/OL. 43.000001.
  URL https://opg.optica.org/ol/abstract.cfm?URI=ol-43-1-1
- [63] R. S. Grewal, G. Pati, R. Tripathi, A. W. Yu, M. Krainak, M. Purucker, Magneto-optical resonances in fluorescence from sodium d2 manifold, Opt. Express 28 (2) (2020) 1114-1123. doi:10.1364/0E.382823.
   URL https://opg.optica.org/oe/abstract.cfm?URI=oe-28-2-1114
- [64] N. Ding, G.-G. Kang, X.-X. Zhang, Y.-X. Guo, Z.-Y. Guo, L. Zhao, W.-Q. Jin, H.-Q. Zheng, Q.-Y. Ren, H. Zhao, Magnetometry based on the effect of

laser-induced plasmas in a sodium-containing environment, Opt. Lett. 47 (18) (2022) 4608-4611. doi:10.1364/OL.468358. URL https://opg.optica.org/ol/abstract.cfm?URI=ol-47-18-4608

- [65] W. Happer, G. MacDonald, C. Max, F. Dyson, Atmospheric-turbulence compensation by resonant optical backscattering from the sodium layer in the upper atmosphere, JOSA A 11 (1) (1994) 263–276.
- [66] R. Q. Fugate, D. L. Fried, G. A. Ameer, B. R. Boeke, S. L. Browne, P. H. Roberts, R. E. Ruane, G. A. Tyler, L. M. Wopat, Measurement of atmospheric wavefront distortion using scattered light from a laser guide-star, Nature 353 (1991) 144–146. doi:10.1038/353144a0.
- [67] R. Foy, A. Labeyrie, Feasibility of adaptive telescope with laser probe, A&A 152 (2) (1985) L29–L31.
- [68] R. A. Humphreys, C. A. Primmerman, L. C. Bradley, J. Herrmann, Atmospheric-turbulence measurements using a synthetic beacon in the mesospheric sodium layer, Opt. Lett. 16 (18) (1991) 1367–1369. doi:10.1364/0L. 16.001367. URL http://opg.optica.org/ol/abstract.cfm?URI=ol-16-18-1367
- [69] R. W. Duffner, The Adaptive Optics Revolution: A History, University of New Mexico Press, 2009.
- [70] P. W. Milonni, H. Fearn, J. M. Telle, R. Q. Fugate, Theory of continuous-wave excitation of the sodium beacon, Journal of the Optical Society of America A 16 (1999) 2555–2566. doi:10.1364/JOSAA.16.002555.
- [71] R. Holzlöhner, S. M. Rochester, D. Bonaccini Calia, D. Budker, J. M. Higbie, W. Hackenberg, Optimization of cw sodium laser guide star efficiency, A&A 510 (2010) A20.
   URL http://doi.org/10.1051/0004-6361/200913108
- [72] S. M. Rochester, A. Otarola, C. Boyer, D. Budker, B. Ellerbroek, R. Holzlöhner, L. Wang, Modeling of pulsed-laser guide stars for the thirty meter telescope project, J. Opt. Soc. Am. B 29 (8) (2012) 2176-2188. doi: 10.1364/JOSAB.29.002176. URL http://josab.osa.org/abstract.cfm?URI=josab-29-8-2176

- [73] C. A. Denman, P. D. Hillman, G. T. Moore, J. M. Telle, J. E. Preston, J. D. Drummond, R. Q. Fugate, Realization of a 50-watt facility-class sodium guidestar pump laser, in: Proc. SPIE, Vol. 5707, 2005, pp. 46–49. doi: 10.1117/12.613370.
- Y. Feng, L. R. Taylor, D. Bonaccini Calia, 25 W Raman-fiber-amplifier-based 589 nm laser for laser guide star, Optics Express 17 (2009) 19021–19026. doi: 10.1364/0E.17.019021.
- [75] R. Foy, A. Migus, F. Biraben, G. Grynberg, P. R. McCullough, M. Tallon, The polychromatic artificial sodium star: a new concept for correcting the atmospheric tilt., A&AS 111 (1995) 569.
- [76] J. E. Albert, D. Budker, K. Chance, I. E. Gordon, F. Pedreros Bustos, M. Pospelov, S. M. Rochester, H. Sadeghpour, A precise photometric ratio via laser excitation of the sodium layer–i. one-photon excitation using 342.78 nm light, Monthly Notices of the Royal Astronomical Society 508 (3) (2021) 4399–4411.
- [77] J. E. Albert, D. Budker, K. Chance, I. E. Gordon, F. Pedreros Bustos, M. Pospelov, S. M. Rochester, H. Sadeghpour, A precise photometric ratio via laser excitation of the sodium layer–ii. two-photon excitation using lasers detuned from 589.16 and 819.71 nm resonances, Monthly Notices of the Royal Astronomical Society 508 (3) (2021) 4412–4428.
- [78] N. Moussaoui, R. Holzlöhner, W. Hackenberg, D. Bonaccini Calia, Dependence of sodium laser guide star photon return on the geomagnetic field, Astronomy & Astrophysics 501 (2009) 793–799. doi:10.1051/0004-6361/200811411.
- [79] S. K. Runcorn, Rock Magnetism, Nature 179 (1957) 866. doi:10.1038/ 179866a0.
- [80] P. S. Theocaris, I. Liritzis, E. Lagios, A. Sampson, Geophysical prospection, archaeological excavation, and dating in two hellenic pyramids, Surveys in Geophysics 17 (5) (1996) 593-618.
- [81] G. Paschmann, S. J. Schwartz, C. P. Escoubet, S. Haaland, Outer magnetospheric boundaries: Cluster results, Vol. 20, Springer Science & Business Media, 2005.

- [82] A. G. McNish, Physical representations of the geomagnetic field, Eos, Transactions American Geophysical Union 21 (2) (1940) 287–291. doi:https: //doi.org/10.1029/TR021i002p00287.
- [83] B. A. Buffett, Earth's core and the geodynamo, Science 288 (5473) (2000) 2007-2012. doi:10.1126/science.288.5473.2007.
- [84] W. Erdmann, H. Kmita, J. Z. Kosicki, L. Kaczmarek, How the geomagnetic field influences life on earth–an integrated approach to geomagnetobiology, Origins of Life and Evolution of Biospheres (2021) 1–27.
- [85] A. Chulliat, W. Brown, P. Alken, C. Beggan, M. Nair, G. C. A. Woods, S. Macmillan, B. Meyer, M. Paniccia, The US/UK world magnetic model for 2020-2025: Technical report, Tech. rep., National Centers for Environmental Information, NOAA (2020). doi:10.25923/ytk1-yx35.
- [86] P. Alken, E. Thébault, C. D. Beggan, H. Amit, J. Aubert, J. Baerenzung, T. N. Bondar, W. J. Brown, S. Califf, A. Chambodut, A. Chulliat, G. A. Cox, C. C. Finlay, A. Fournier, N. Gillet, A. Grayver, M. D. Hammer, M. Holschneider, L. Huder, G. Hulot, T. Jager, C. Kloss, M. Korte, W. Kuang, A. Kuvshinov, B. Langlais, J. M. Léger, V. Lesur, P. W. Livermore, F. J. Lowes, S. Macmillan, W. Magnes, M. Mandea, S. Marsal, J. Matzka, M. C. Metman, T. Minami, A. Morschhauser, J. E. Mound, M. Nair, S. Nakano, N. Olsen, F. J. Pavón-Carrasco, V. G. Petrov, G. Ropp, M. Rother, T. J. Sabaka, S. Sanchez, D. Saturnino, N. R. Schnepf, X. Shen, C. Stolle, A. Tangborn, L. Tøffner-Clausen, H. Toh, J. M. Torta, J. Varner, F. Vervelidou, P. Vigneron, I. Wardinski, J. Wicht, A. Woods, Y. Yang, Z. Zeren, B. Zhou, International Geomagnetic Reference Field: the thirteenth generation, Earth, Planets and Space 73 (1) (2021) 49. doi:10.1186/s40623-020-01288-x.
- [87] Y. Yamazaki, A. Maute, Sq and EEJ: A Review on the Daily Variation of the Geomagnetic Field Caused by Ionospheric Dynamo Currents, Space Science Review 206 (2017) 299–405. doi:10.1007/s11214-016-0282-z.
- [88] J. J. Love, A. Chulliat, An international network of magnetic observatories, Eos, Transactions American Geophysical Union 94 (42) (2013) 373-374. doi: 10.1002/2013E0420001. URL https://intermagnet.github.io

- [89] R. Yang, J. Hellemeier, P. Hickson, Atomic transitions for adaptive optics, J. Opt. Soc. Am. B 38 (8) (2021) 2239-2251. doi:10.1364/JOSAB.427298. URL http://opg.optica.org/josab/abstract.cfm?URI=josab-38-8-2239
- [90] J. M. Plane, W. Feng, E. C. Dawkins, The mesosphere and metals: Chemistry and changes, Chemical reviews 115 (10) (2015) 4497–4541.
- [91] A. J. Gibson, L. Thomas, S. K. Bhattachacharyya, Laser observations of the ground-state hyperfine structure of sodium and of temperatures in the upper atmosphere, Nature 281 (1979) 131–132. doi:10.1038/281131a0.
- [92] G. Megie, F. Bos, J. Blamont, M. Chanin, Simultaneous nightime lidar measurements of atmospheric sodium and potassium, Planetary and Space Science 26 (1) (1978) 27 – 35.
- [93] T. Dunker, U.-P. Hoppe, W. Feng, J. M. C. Plane, D. R. Marsh, Mesospheric temperatures and sodium properties measured with the ALOMAR Na lidar compared with WACCM, Journal of Atmospheric and Solar-Terrestrial Physics 127 (2015) 111–119. doi:10.1016/j.jastp.2015.01.003.
- [94] C. Y. She, J. R. Yu, Simultaneous three-frequency Na lidar measurements of radial wind and temperature in the mesopause region, Geophysical Research Letters 21 (1994) 1771–1774. doi:10.1029/94GL01417.
- [95] J. Xu, A. K. Smith, Studies of gravity wave-induced fluctuations of the sodium layer using linear and nonlinear models, Journal of Geophysical Research (Atmospheres) 109 (2004) D02306. doi:10.1029/2003JD004038.
- [96] L. Michaille, J. B. Clifford, J. C. Dainty, T. Gregory, J. C. Quartel, F. C. Reavell, R. W. Wilson, N. J. Wooder, Characterization of the mesospheric sodium layer at La Palma, MNRAS 328 (2001) 993–1000. doi:10.1046/j. 1365-8711.2001.04703.x.
- [97] B. Neichel, C. D'Orgeville, J. Callingham, F. Rigaut, C. Winge, G. Trancho, Characterization of the sodium layer at Cerro Pachón, and impact on laser guide star performance, Monthly Notices of the Royal Astronomical Society 429 (4) (2013) 3522–3532.
- [98] T. Pfrommer, P. Hickson, High resolution mesospheric sodium properties for adaptive optics applications, A&A 565 (2014) A102. doi:10.1051/ 0004-6361/201423460.

- [99] T. Pfrommer, P. Hickson, High-resolution lidar observations of mesospheric sodium and implications for adaptive optics, J. Opt. Soc. Am. A 27 (11) (2010) A97-A105. doi:10.1364/JOSAA.27.000A97.
   URL http://josaa.osa.org/abstract.cfm?URI=josaa-27-11-A97
- [100] N. Moussaoui, B. R. Clemesha, R. Holzlöhner, D. M. Simonich, D. Bonaccini Calia, W. Hackenberg, P. P. Batista, Statistics of the sodium layer parameters at low geographic latitude and its impact on adaptive-optics sodium laser guide star characteristics, A&A 511 (2010) A31. doi:10.1051/0004-6361/ 200913281.
- [101] T. Pfrommer, Mesospheric dynamics and ground-layer optical turbulence studies for the performance of ground-based telescopes, Dissertation, University of British Columbia (2010).
- [102] G. Herriot, P. Hickson, B. Ellerbroek, J.-P. Véran, C.-Y. She, R. Clare, D. Looze, Focus errors from tracking sodium layer altitude variations with laser guide star adaptive optics for the Thirty Meter Telescope, in: Proc. SPIE, Vol. 6272, 2006, p. 62721I.
- [103] G. Swenson, Y. Yee, F. Vargas, A. Liu, Vertical diffusion transport of atomic oxygen in the mesopause region consistent with chemical losses and continuity: Global mean and inter-annual variability, Journal of Atmospheric and Solar-Terrestrial Physics 178 (2018) 47–57.
- [104] A. Dogariu, R. Miles, High-gain air lasing by multiphoton pumping of atomic species, in: Air Lasing, Springer, 2018, pp. 19–43.
- [105] S. F. Adams, T. A. Miller, Two-photon absorption laser-induced fluorescence of atomic nitrogen by an alternative excitation scheme, Chemical physics letters 295 (4) (1998) 305–311.
- [106] C. S. Gardner, Performance capabilities of middle-atmosphere temperature lidars: comparison of na, fe, k, ca, ca+, and rayleigh systems, Applied Optics 43 (25) (2004) 4941–4956.
- [107] J. A. Gelbwachs, Iron boltzmann factor lidar: proposed new remote-sensing technique for mesospheric temperature, Applied optics 33 (30) (1994) 7151– 7156.

- [108] C. L. Whalley, J. C. G. Martín, T. G. Wright, J. M. Plane, A kinetic study of mg+ and mg-containing ions reacting with o 3, o 2, n 2, co2, n2o and h2o: implications for magnesium ion chemistry in the upper atmosphere, Physical Chemistry Chemical Physics 13 (13) (2011) 6352–6364.
- [109] J. M. Plane, Magnesium chemistry in the upper atmosphere, Tech. rep., LEEDS UNIV (UNITED KINGDOM) SCHOOL OF CHEMISTRY (2010).
- [110] D. Verner, E. Verner, G. Ferland, Atomic data for permitted resonance lines of atoms and ions from h to si, and s, ar, ca, and fe, Atomic Data and Nuclear Data Tables 64 (1) (1996) 1–180.
- [111] J.-P. Jegou, M.-L. Chanin, G. Mégie, J. E. Blamont, Lidar measurements of atmospheric lithium, Geophysical Research Letters 7 (11) (1980) 995–998.
- [112] G. Vaughan, Observations for chemistry (remote sensing): lidar, Encyclopedia of Atmospheric Sciences 1 (2014) 411.
- [113] J. M. Picone, A. E. Hedin, D. P. Drob, A. C. Aikin, NrImsise-00 empirical model of the atmosphere: Statistical comparisons and scientific issues, Journal of Geophysical Research: Space Physics 107 (A12) (2002) SIA 15-1-SIA 15-16. arXiv:https://agupubs.onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/pdf/10. 1029/2002JA009430, doi:https://doi.org/10.1029/2002JA009430. URL https://agupubs.onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/abs/10.1029/2002JA009430
- [114] D. P. Drob, J. T. Emmert, J. W. Meriwether, J. J. Makela, E. Doornbos, M. Conde, G. Hernandez, J. Noto, K. A. Zawdie, S. E. McDonald, J. D. Huba, J. H. Klenzing, An update to the horizontal wind model (hwm): The quiet time thermosphere, Earth and Space Science 2 (7) (2015) 301-319. arXiv:https: //agupubs.onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/pdf/10.1002/2014EA000089, doi:https://doi.org/10.1002/2014EA000089. URL https://agupubs.onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/abs/10.1002/ 2014EA000089
- [115] C. A. Denman, J. D. Drummond, P. D. Hillman, G. T. Moore, J. M. Telle, A. L. Tuffli, 20 watt cw 589-nm sodium beacon excitation source for adaptive optical telescope applications, in: Conference on Lasers and Electro-Optics/Quantum Electronics and Laser Science Conference, Optica Publishing Group, 2003, p. CThPDD12.

URL https://opg.optica.org/abstract.cfm?URI=CLEO-2003-CThPDD12

- [116] AtomicDensityMatrix Mathematica package, available at http: //rochesterscientific.com/ADM/.
- [117] D. Dravins, L. Lindegren, E. Mezey, A. T. Young, Atmospheric Intensity Scintillation of Stars, I. Statistical Distributions and Temporal Properties, PASP 109 (1997) 173–207. doi:10.1086/133872.
- [118] D. Dravins, L. Lindegren, E. Mezey, A. T. Young, Atmospheric Intensity Scintillation of Stars. II. Dependence on Optical Wavelength, PASP 109 (1997) 725–737. doi:10.1086/133937.
- [119] D. Dravins, L. Lindegren, E. Mezey, A. T. Young, Atmospheric Intensity Scintillation of Stars. III. Effects for Different Telescope Apertures, PASP 110 (1998) 610–633. doi:10.1086/316161.
- [120] D. Bonaccini Calia, I. Guidolin, A. Friedenauer, M. Hager, V. Karpov, T. Pfrommer, R. Holzloehner, S. Lewis, W. Hackenberg, G. Lombardi, M. Centrone, F. Pedichini, The ESO transportable LGS unit for measurements of the lgs photon return and other experiments, in: Proc. SPIE, Vol. 8450, 2012, pp. 606–617.
- [121] A. Serrano, Laser diagnostics of the mesospheric magnetic field. Understanding remote laser magnetometry in northern Norway, Master's thesis, UiT The Arctic University of Norway, Norway (2017).
- [122] F. Pedreros Bustos, R. Holzlöhner, S. Rochester, D. B. Calia, J. Hellemeier, D. Budker, Frequency chirped continuous-wave sodium laser guide stars: modeling and optimization, J. Opt. Soc. Am. B 37 (4) (2020) 1208-1218. doi:10.1364/JOSAB.389007. URL https://opg.optica.org/josab/abstract.cfm?URI= josab-37-4-1208
- [123] J. Hellemeier, M. Enderlein, M. Hager, D. Bonaccini Calia, R. L. Johnson, F. Lison, M. O. Byrd, L. A. Kann, M. Centrone, P. Hickson, Laser guide star return-flux gain from frequency chirping, Monthly Notices of the Royal Astronomical Society 511 (3) (2022) 4660-4668. URL https://doi.org/10.1093/mnras/stac343
- [124] S. Maus, H. Lühr, M. Rother, K. Hemant, G. Balasis, P. Ritter, C. Stolle, Fifth-generation lithospheric magnetic field model from champ satellite measurements, Geochemistry, Geophysics, Geosystems 8 (5) (2007). arXiv:https:

//agupubs.onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/pdf/10.1029/2006GC001521, doi:https://doi.org/10.1029/2006GC001521. URL https://agupubs.onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/abs/10.1029/ 2006GC001521

- [125] E. Friis-Christensen, H. Lühr, G. Hulot, Swarm: A constellation to study the earth's magnetic field, Earth, planets and space 58 (4) (2006) 351–358.
- [126] S. F. Singer, E. Maple, W. A. Bowen, Measurement of the earth's magnetic field at high altitudes at white sands, new mexico, Physical Review 77 (1950) 398–399.
- [127] L. J. Cahill, J. A. van Allen, High altitude measurements of the earth's magnetic field with a proton precession magnetometer, Journal of Geophysical Research 61 (1956) 547–558.
- [128] J. P. Heppner, J. D. Stolarik, L. H. Meredith, The earth's magnetic field above wspg, new mexico, from rocket measurements, Journal of Geophysical Research 63 (1958) 277–288.
- [129] R. Hutchinson, B. Shuman, Rocket measurements of the magnetic field above new mexico, Journal of Geophysical Research (1896-1977) 66 (9) (1961) 2687– 2693. arXiv:https://agupubs.onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/pdf/10. 1029/JZ066i009p02687, doi:https://doi.org/10.1029/JZ066i009p02687. URL https://agupubs.onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/abs/10.1029/ JZ066i009p02687
- [130] K. Burrows, S. H. Hall, Rocket measurements of the geomagnetic field above woomera, south australia, Journal of Geophysical Research 70 (1965) 2149– 2158.
- [131] K. Burrows, J. Stolarik, J. Heppner, Rocket measurements of the magnetic fields associated with visual aurorae, Planetary and Space Science 19 (8) (1971) 877-890. doi:https://doi.org/10.1016/0032-0633(71)90139-5. URL https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/ 0032063371901395
- [132] P. A. Cloutier, B. R. Sandel, Rocket-based vector magnetic measurements of sq ionospheric currents near sporadic e, Journal of Geophysical Research 77 (1972) 212–223.

- [133] A. García, M. Chiappini, I. Blanco-Montenegro, R. Carluccio, F. DAjello Caracciolo, R. De Ritis, I. Nicolosi, A. Pignatelli, N. Sánchez, E. Boschi, High resolution magnetic anomaly map of tenerife, canary islands, Annals of geophysics 50 (5) (01 2007). doi:10.4401/ag-4437.
- [134] I. Blanco-Montenegro, R. de Ritis, M. Chiappini, Imaging and modelling the subsurface structure of volcanic calderas with high-resolution aeromagnetic data at Vulcano (Aeolian Islands, Italy), Bulletin of Volcanology 69 (6) (2007) 643–659. doi:10.1007/s00445-006-0100-7.
- [135] J. S. Bennett, B. E. Vyhnalek, H. Greenall, E. M. Bridge, F. Gotardo, S. Forstner, G. I. Harris, F. A. Miranda, W. P. Bowen, Precision magnetometers for aerospace applications: A review, Sensors 21 (16) (2021). doi:10.3390/s21165568. URL https://www.mdpi.com/1424-8220/21/16/5568
- [136] F. J. Lowes, Spatial power spectrum of the main geomagnetic field, and extrapolation to the core., Geophysical Journal 36 (1974) 717-730. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-246X.1974.tb00622.x.
- [137] S. Maus, The geomagnetic power spectrum, Geophysical Journal International 174 (1) (2008) 135–142. doi:10.1111/j.1365-246X.2008.03820.x.
- [138] J. Love, Magnetic monitoring of Earth and space, Physics Today 61 (2018) 31–37.
- [139] E. Thébault, M. Purucker, K. A. Whaler, B. Langlais, T. J. Sabaka, The Magnetic Field of the Earth's Lithosphere, Space Sci Rev 155 (2010) 95–127. doi:10.1007/s11214-010-9667-6.
- [140] S. Maus, F. Yin, H. Lühr, C. Manoj, M. Rother, J. Rauberg, I. Michaelis, C. Stolle, R. D. Müller, Resolution of direction of oceanic magnetic lineations by the sixth-generation lithospheric magnetic field model from CHAMP satellite magnetic measurements, Geochemistry, Geophysics, Geosystems 9 (2008) Q07021. doi:10.1029/2008GC001949.
- [141] N. K. Eriksen, An Investigation of Magnetic Field Disturbances on the Ground and in the Mesosphere, Master's thesis, UiT The Arctic University of Norway, Norway (2019).

- [142] F. Pedreros Bustos, D. Bonaccini Calia, D. Budker, M. Centrone, J. Hellemeier, P. Hickson, R. Holzlöhner, S. Rochester, Remote sensing of geomagnetic fields and atomic collisions in the mesosphere, Nature communications 9 (1) (2018) 1–8.
- [143] L. Allen, G. Peters, Superradiance, coherence brightening and amplified spontaneous emission, Physics Letters A 31 (3) (1970) 95-96. doi:https://doi.org/10.1016/0375-9601(70)90168-4. URL https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/ 0375960170901684
- [144] F. Pedreros Bustos, A. Akulshin, R. Holzlöhner, S. Rochester, D. Budker, Studies towards a directional polychromatic sodium laser guide star, in: L. M. Close, L. Schreiber, D. Schmidt (Eds.), Adaptive Optics Systems VI, Vol. 10703 of Society of Photo-Optical Instrumentation Engineers (SPIE) Conference Series, 2018, p. 107030R. doi:10.1117/12.2313757.
- [145] A. M. Akulshin, F. Pedreros Bustos, D. Budker, Continuous-wave mirrorless lasing at 2.21  $\mu$ m in sodium vapors, Optics letters 43 (21) (2018) 5279–5282.
- [146] A. Akulshin, F. Pedreros Bustos, D. Budker, Intensity-correlated spiking of infrared and ultraviolet emission from sodium vapors, Optics Letters 46 (9) (2021) 2131–2134.
- [147] L. Allen, G. I. Peters, Amplified spontaneous emission and external signal amplification in an inverted medium, Phys. Rev. A 8 (1973) 2031-2047. doi: 10.1103/PhysRevA.8.2031.
   URL https://link.aps.org/doi/10.1103/PhysRevA.8.2031
- [148] J. C. Garrison, H. Nathel, R. Y. Chiao, Quantum theory of amplified spontaneous emission: scaling properties, J. Opt. Soc. Am. B 5 (7) (1988) 1528-1539. doi:10.1364/JOSAB.5.001528. URL https://opg.optica.org/josab/abstract.cfm?URI=josab-5-7-1528
- [149] Y. A. Nastishin, T. Dudok, Optically pumped mirrorless lasing. A review. Part I. Random lasing, Ukrainian journal of physical optics (14,№ 3) (2013) 146–170.
- [150] P. Hickson, J. Hellemeier, R. Yang, Can amplified spontaneous emission produce intense laser guide stars for adaptive optics?, Optics Letters 46 (8) (2021) 1792–1795.

- [151] D. Leone, First booz allen satellite will observe air force laser, https://spacenews.com/ first-booz-allen-satellite-will-observe-air-force-laser/ (2015).
- [152] Gunter's Space Page, Centennial 1, https://space.skyrocket.de/doc\_ sdat/centennial-1.htm (2015).
- [153] P. Polynkin, Y. Cheng, Air Lasing, Springer, 2018.
- [154] M. Aldén, Spatially and temporally resolved laser/optical diagnostics of combustion processes: From fundamentals to practical applications, Proceedings of the Combustion Institute 39 (1) (2023) 1185-1228. doi:https://doi.org/10.1016/j.proci.2022.06.020. URL https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/ S1540748922000165
- [155] Q. Luo, W. Liu, S. L. Chin, Lasing action in air induced by ultra-fast laser filamentation, Applied Physics B 76 (3) (2003) 337-340.
   URL https://doi.org/10.1007/s00340-003-1115-9
- [156] P. R. Hemmer, R. B. Miles, P. Polynkin, T. Siebert, A. V. Sokolov, P. Sprangle, M. O. Scully, Standoff spectroscopy via remote generation of a backwardpropagating laser beam, Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences 108 (8) (2011) 3130-3134. arXiv:https://www.pnas.org/doi/pdf/10.1073/ pnas.1014401107, doi:10.1073/pnas.1014401107. URL https://www.pnas.org/doi/abs/10.1073/pnas.1014401107
- [157] A. Dogariu, J. B. Michael, M. O. Scully, R. B. Miles, High-gain backward lasing in air, Science 331 (6016) (2011) 442-445. arXiv:https://www.science.org/ doi/pdf/10.1126/science.1199492, doi:10.1126/science.1199492. URL https://www.science.org/doi/abs/10.1126/science.1199492
- [158] J. Ni, W. Chu, H. Zhang, C. Jing, J. Yao, H. Xu, B. Zeng, G. Li, C. Zhang, S. L. Chin, Y. Cheng, Z. Xu, Harmonic-seeded remote laser emissions in n2-ar, n2-xe and n2-ne mixtures: a comparative study, Opt. Express 20 (19) (2012) 20970-20979. doi:10.1364/0E.20.020970. URL https://opg.optica.org/oe/abstract.cfm?URI=oe-20-19-20970
- [159] J. Peñano, P. Sprangle, B. Hafizi, D. Gordon, R. Fernsler, M. Scully, Remote lasing in air by recombination and electron impact excitation of molecular nitrogen, Journal of Applied Physics 111 (3) (2012) 033105. arXiv:https:

//doi.org/10.1063/1.3681282, doi:10.1063/1.3681282. URL https://doi.org/10.1063/1.3681282

- [160] P. Sprangle, J. Peñano, B. Hafizi, D. Gordon, M. Scully, Remotely induced atmospheric lasing, Applied Physics Letters 98 (21) (2011) 211102. arXiv: https://doi.org/10.1063/1.3584034, doi:10.1063/1.3584034. URL https://doi.org/10.1063/1.3584034
- [161] T. L. Chng, A. Dogariu, R. B. Miles, Remote lasing in humid air from atomic hydrogen, AIAA Journal 59 (2) (2021) 636-643. arXiv:https://doi.org/ 10.2514/1.J059822, doi:10.2514/1.J059822. URL https://doi.org/10.2514/1.J059822
- [162] A. Dogariu, R. B. Miles, Three-photon femtosecond pumped backwards lasing in argon, Opt. Express 24 (6) (2016) A544-A552. doi:10.1364/0E.24.00A544. URL http://opg.optica.org/oe/abstract.cfm?URI=oe-24-6-A544
- [163] Z. Nie, N. Nambu, K. A. Marsh, D. Matteo, C. K. Patel, C. Zhang, Y. Wu, S. Carlström, F. Morales, S. Patchkovskii, O. Smirnova, M. Ivanov, C. Joshi, Bidirectional cascaded superfluorescent lasing in air enabled by resonant third harmonic photon exchange from nitrogen to argon, Physical Review Letters 133 (6) (2024). doi:10.1103/physrevlett.133.063201. URL http://dx.doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevLett.133.063201
- [164] C. Galea, M. Shneider, A. Dogariu, R. Miles, Magnetically induced depolarization of microwave scattering from a laser-generated plasma, Phys. Rev. Applied 12 (2019) 034055. doi:10.1103/PhysRevApplied.12.034055. URL https://link.aps.org/doi/10.1103/PhysRevApplied.12.034055
- [165] A. Balogh, Planetary magnetic field measurements: Missions and instrumentation, Space Science Reviews 152 (1-4) (2010) 23–97, identifier: 9643. doi:10.1007/s11214-010-9643-1.
- [166] L. Zhang, L. Zhang, Artificial intelligence for remote sensing data analysis: A review of challenges and opportunities, IEEE Geoscience and Remote Sensing Magazine 10 (2) (2022) 270-294. doi:10.1109/mgrs.2022.3145854. URL http://dx.doi.org/10.1109/MGRS.2022.3145854